
 

 

Presque Isle City Council Meeting  
 
 

         Monday, April 7, 2014  
6:00 PM  

Presque Isle Council Chambers 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
 
Call to Order – Roll Call 
Pledge of Allegiance 

 
Public Hearings 

 
14-80 Consider adopting a newly proposed Chapter 16A – Shoreland Zoning (Single 

Hearing) 
14-81 Special Permit for Music, Dancing and Entertainment for Wintergreen Arts 

Center, with a location of 149 State Street (Single Hearing) 
14-82 Special Permit for Music, Dancing and Entertainment for Hayward-Frazier 

VFW Post 2599, with a location of 6 State Road (Single Hearing) 
14-83 Solicit comments regarding two year bid for Essential Air Service from 

Peninsula Airways Inc (Single Hearing) 
 

Citizen Comments 
 

Consent Agenda 
 

14-84 Approve City Council minutes for the regular meeting held on March 3, 2014, 
March 17, March 24, 2014 and the workshop meeting minutes of February 13, 
2014 

14-85 Approve 2014 Warrants #8 - #12, totaling $1,790,428.15 
14-86 Approve list of election workers 
14-87 Resolution of appreciation to Peninsula Airways Inc regarding the World Jr 

Biathlon 
14-88 Resolution of appreciation to volunteers and supporters of the World Jr 

Biathlon 
14-89 Construction Overlimit Permit by Maine Department Of Transportation 

14-90 Abatement for Video Monitoring Services of America, LP 
 
 
 



Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 
New Business 

 
14-91 Revocation of Malt, Spirituous and Vinous Liquor License and Special Permit 

for Music, Dancing and Entertainment for Bou’s Brew Pub, 431 Main Street 
14-92 Essential Air Service bid by Peninsula Airway’s Inc 
14-93 Employment License for Tempo Employment 
14-94 Pawnbroker’s License for Ben’s Trading Post 
14-95 Taxi Cab Service License for Town Taxi 
14-96 Taxi Cab Service License for Aroostook Cab Company 
14-97 Pool Room License for My Tai Restaurant & Lounge 
14-98 Bowling Alley License for Northern Maine Bowling Alley 
14-99 Appointment to Presque Isle Housing Authority Board of Commissioners 
14-100 Appointment to Zoning Board of Appeals 
14-101 Land Transfer to City of 69 North Street and 59 Elm Street 
14-102 Authorize letter to Maine Department Of Transportation regarding the 

intersection at State, Dyer, Parsons and Mechanic Streets 
14-103 Authorize letter to Maine Department Of Transportation regarding the 

intersection at Parsons and Main Streets and Fort Road 
14-104 Approve Harriman contract and authorize funds for Community Center 
14-105 Authorize demolition of indoor pool 
14-106 Discuss revised building committee for Community Center 
14-107 Discuss winter sidewalk maintenance in the downtown  
 

Manager’s Report 
 

Announcements 
 

Executive Session 
 

Pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405 (6) (C) to discuss a real estate matter  
 

Adjournment 







PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  80    
SUBJECT:  
 

SINGLE PUBLIC HEARING – Consider adopting Chapter 16A – 

Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Memo from Kenneth Arndt dated February 19, 2014 

 Chapter 16A – Shoreland Zoning 

 Public Hearing Notice 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to adopt Chapter 16A – Shoreland Zoning Ordinance as 

presented. 

 









 
 

 
 

CHAPTER 16A 
CITY OF PRESQUE ISLE 

 
SHORELAND ZONING ORDINANCE 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Date of Passage:  April 7, 2014 
 
 
 
 
Attest:  ____________________________________ 
              Beverly A. Labbe, City Clerk 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City Seal 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 1 

 

 
 

SECTION 1 PURPOSES  
 
The purposes of this Ordinance are to further the maintenance of safe and healthful 
conditions; to prevent and control water pollution; to protect fish spawning grounds, 
aquatic life, bird and other wildlife habitat; to protect buildings and lands from flooding 
and accelerated erosion; to protect archaeological and historic resources; to protect 
freshwater wetlands; to control building sites, placement of structures and land uses; to 
conserve shore cover, and visual as well as actual points of access to inland waters; to 
conserve natural beauty and open space; and to anticipate and respond to the impacts 
of development in shoreland areas. 
 
SECTION 2 AUTHORITY 
 
This Ordinance has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Title 38 sections 
435-448 of the Maine Revised Statutes Annotated (M.R.S.A.). 
 
SECTION 3 APPLICABILITY 

 
 This Ordinance applies to all land areas within 250 feet, horizontal distance, of the 
normal high-water line of any great pond; within 250 feet, horizontal distance, of the 
normal high-water line of river; within 250 feet, horizontal distance, of the upland edge 
of a freshwater wetland rated moderate or high value by the Department of Inland 
Fisheries and Wildlife; within 75 feet, horizontal distance, of the upland edge of a 
freshwater wetland not rated moderate or high value by the Department of Inland 
Fisheries and Wildlife; and within 75 feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high-water 
line of a stream. 
 
This Ordinance also applies to any structure built on, over or abutting a dock, wharf or 
pier, or other structure extending or located below the normal high-water line of a 
water body or within a wetland. 
 
SECTION 4 EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
A. Effective Date of Ordinance and Ordinance Amendments. This Ordinance, which 

was adopted by the municipal legislative body on April 7, 2014, shall not be 
effective unless approved by the Commissioner of the Department of 
Environmental Protection. A certified copy of the Ordinance, or Ordinance 
Amendment, attested and signed by the Municipal Clerk, shall be forwarded to the 
Commissioner for approval. If the Commissioner fails to act on this Ordinance or 
Ordinance Amendment, within forty-five (45) days of his/her receipt of the 
Ordinance, or Ordinance Amendment, it shall be automatically approved. 

 
 Any application for a permit submitted to the municipality within the forty-five 

(45) day period shall be governed by the terms of this Ordinance, or Ordinance 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 2 

 

 
 

Amendment, if the Ordinance, or Ordinance Amendment, is approved by the 
Commissioner. 

 
SECTION 5 AVAILABILITY 
 
A certified copy of this Ordinance shall be filed with the Municipal Clerk and shall be 
accessible to any member of the public. Copies shall be made available to the public at 
reasonable cost at the expense of the person making the request. Notice of availability of 
this Ordinance shall be posted. 
 
SECTION 6 SEVERABILITY 
 
Should any section or provision of this Ordinance be declared by the courts to be 
invalid, such decision shall not invalidate any other section or provision of the 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 7 CONFLICTS WITH OTHER ORDINANCES 
 
In applicable areas (refer to Section 3 above), the provisions of this Ordinance supercede 
the provisions of the  Land Use and Development Code. Whenever a provision of this 
Ordinance conflicts with or is inconsistent with any other ordinance, regulation or 
statute administered by the municipality, or with another provision of this Ordinance, 
the more restrictive provision shall control. 
 
SECTION 8 AMENDMENTS 
 
This Ordinance may be amended by majority vote of the legislative body. Copies of 
amendments, attested and signed by the Municipal Clerk, shall be submitted to the 
Commissioner of the Department of Environmental Protection following adoption by 
the municipal legislative body and shall not be effective unless approved by the 
Commissioner. If the Commissioner fails to act on any amendment within forty-five 
(45) days of his/her receipt of the amendment, the amendment is automatically 
approved. Any application for a permit submitted to the municipality within the forty-
five (45) day period shall be governed by the terms of the amendment, if such 
amendment is approved by the Commissioner. 
 
SECTION 9 DISTRICTS AND ZONING MAP 
 
A. Official Shoreland Zoning Map. The areas to which this Ordinance is applicable are 

hereby divided into the following districts as shown on the Official Shoreland 
Zoning Map(s) which is (are) made a part of this Ordinance: 
 

(1) Resource Protection 
(2) Limited Residential 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 3 

 

 
 

(3) Limited Commercial 
(4) General Development  
(5) Stream Protection 
 

B. Scale of Map. The Official Shoreland Zoning Map shall be drawn at a scale of not 
less than: 1 inch = 2000 feet. District boundaries shall be clearly delineated and a 
legend indicating the symbols for each district shall be placed on the map. 
 

C. Certification of Official Shoreland Zoning Map. The Official Shoreland Zoning 
Map shall be certified by the attested signature of the Municipal Clerk and shall be 
located in the municipal office. In the event the municipality does not have a 
municipal office, the Municipal Clerk shall be the custodian of the map. 
 

D. Changes to the Official Shoreland Zoning Map. If amendments, in accordance with 
Section 8, are made in the district boundaries or other matter portrayed on the 
Official Shoreland Zoning Map, such changes shall be made on the Official 
Shoreland Zoning Map within thirty (30) days after the amendment has been 
approved by the Commissioner of the Department of Environmental Protection. 
 

SECTION 10 INTERPRETATION OF DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 
 
Unless otherwise set forth on the Official Shoreland Zoning Map, district boundary 
lines are property lines, the centerlines of streets, roads and rights of way, and the 
boundaries of the shoreland area as defined herein. Where uncertainty exists as to the 
exact location of district boundary lines, the Zoning Board of Appeals shall be the final 
authority as to location. 
 
SECTION 11 LAND USE REQUIREMENTS 
 
Except as hereinafter specified, no building, structure or land shall hereafter be used or 
occupied, and no building or structure or part thereof shall hereafter be erected, 
constructed, expanded, moved, or altered and no new lot shall be created except in 
conformity with all of the regulations herein specified for the district in which it is 
located, unless a variance is granted. 
 
SECTION12 NON-CONFORMANCE 
 
A. Purpose. It is the intent of this Ordinance to promote land use conformities, except 

that non-conforming conditions that existed before the effective date of this 
Ordinance or amendments thereto shall be allowed to continue, subject to the 
requirements set forth in Section 12. Except as otherwise provided in this Ordinance, 
a non-conforming condition shall not be permitted to become more non-conforming. 

B. General 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 4 

 

 
 

(1) Transfer of Ownership. Non-conforming structures, lots, and uses may be 
transferred, and the new owner may continue the non-conforming use or 
continue to use the non-conforming structure or lot, subject to the provisions of 
this Ordinance. 
 

(2) Repair and Maintenance. This Ordinance allows, without a permit, the normal 
upkeep and maintenance of non-conforming uses and structures including 
repairs or renovations that do not involve expansion of the non-conforming use 
or structure, and such other changes in a non-conforming use or structure as 
federal, state, or local building and safety codes may require. 

 

C. Non-conforming Structures 
 

(1) Expansions. A non-conforming structure may be added to or expanded after 
obtaining a permit from the same permitting authority as that for a new 
structure, if such addition or expansion does not increase the non-conformity of 
the structure, and is in accordance with subparagraphs (a), and (b) below. 
 

(a) Legally existing non-conforming principal and accessory structures that do 
not meet the water body, tributary stream, or wetland setback requirements 
may be expanded or altered as follows, as long as all other applicable 
standards contained in this Ordinance are met. 

 

i. Expansion of any portion of a structure within 25 feet, horizontal distance, 
of the normal high-water line of a water body, tributary stream, or upland 
edge of a wetland is prohibited, even if the expansion will not increase 
nonconformity with the water body, tributary stream or wetland setback 
requirement. 
 

ii. Expansion of an accessory structure that is located closer to the normal 
high-water line of a water body, tributary stream, or upland edge of a 
wetland than the principal structure is prohibited, even if the expansion 
will not increase nonconformity with the water body or wetland setback 
requirement. 
 

iii. For structures located less than 75 feet, horizontal distance, from the 
normal high-water line of a water body, tributary stream, or upland edge 
of a wetland, the maximum combined total floor area for all portions of 
those structures within that 75-foot distance is 1,000 square feet, and the 
maximum height of any portion of a structure that is within 75 feet, 
horizontal distance, of a water body, tributary stream or upland edge of a 
wetland is 20 feet or the height of the existing structure, whichever is 
greater. 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 5 

 

 
 

iv. For structures located less than 100 feet, horizontal distance, from the 
normal high-water line of a great pond, the maximum combined total 
floor area for all portions of those structures within that 100-foot distance 
is 1,500 square feet, and the maximum height of any portion of a structure 
that is within 100 feet, horizontal distance, of a great pond is 25 feet or the 
height of the existing structure, whichever is greater, except that any 
portion of those structures located less than 75 feet, horizontal distance 
from the normal high-water line of a water body, tributary stream, or the 
upland edge of a wetland must meet the floor area and height limits of 
subparagraph (iii). 

 
For the purposes of Section 12(C)(1)(a), a basement is not counted toward 
floor area. 

 
(b) Whenever a new, enlarged, or replacement foundation is constructed under a 

non-conforming structure, the structure and new foundation must be placed 
such that the setback requirement is met to the greatest practical extent as 
determined by the Code Enforcement Officer, basing its decision on the 
criteria specified in Section 12(C)(2) Relocation, below. If the completed 
foundation does not extend beyond the exterior dimensions of the structure 
and the foundation does not cause the structure to be elevated by more than 
three (3) additional feet, as measured from the uphill side of the structure, it 
shall not be considered to be an expansion of the structure. 

 
 (2) Relocation. A non-conforming structure may be relocated within the boundaries 

of the parcel on which the structure is located provided that the site of relocation 
conforms to all setback requirements to the greatest practical extent as 
determined by the Code Enforcement Officer, and provided that the applicant 
demonstrates that the present subsurface sewage disposal system meets the 
requirements of State law and the State of Maine Subsurface Wastewater 
Disposal Rules (Rules), or that a new system can be installed in compliance with 
the law and said Rules. In no case shall a structure be relocated in a manner that 
causes the structure to be more non-conforming. 

 
In determining whether the building relocation meets the setback to the greatest 
practical extent, the Code Enforcement Officer shall consider the size of the lot, 
the slope of the land, the potential for soil erosion, the location of other structures 
on the property and on adjacent properties, the location of the septic system and 
other on-site soils suitable for septic systems, and the type and amount of 
vegetation to be removed to accomplish the relocation.  

 
When it is necessary to remove vegetation within the water or wetland setback 
area in order to relocate a structure, the Code Enforcement Officer shall require 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 6 

 

 
 

replanting of native vegetation to compensate for the destroyed vegetation. In 
addition, the area from which the relocated structure was removed must be 
replanted with vegetation. Replanting shall be required as follows: 

 

(a) Trees removed in order to relocate a structure must be replanted with at least 
one native tree, three (3) feet in height, for every tree removed. If more than 
five trees are planted, no one species of tree shall make up more than 50% of 
the number of trees planted. Replaced trees must be planted no further from 
the water or wetland than the trees that were removed. 

 

Other woody and herbaceous vegetation, and ground cover, that are 
removed or destroyed in order to relocate a structure must be re-established. 
An area at least the same size as the area where vegetation and/or ground 
cover was disturbed, damaged, or removed must be reestablished within the 
setback area. The vegetation and/or ground cover must consist of similar 
native vegetation and/or ground cover that was disturbed, destroyed or 
removed. 

 

(b) Where feasible, when a structure is relocated on a parcel the original location 
of the structure shall be replanted with vegetation which may consist of 
grasses, shrubs, trees, or a combination thereof. 

 

(3) Reconstruction or Replacement. Any non-conforming structure which is located 
less than the required setback from a water body, tributary stream, or wetland 
and which is removed, or damaged or destroyed, regardless of the cause, by 
more than 50% of the market value of the structure before such damage, 
destruction or removal, may be reconstructed or replaced provided that a permit 
is obtained within one (1) year of the date of said damage, destruction, or 
removal, and provided that such reconstruction or replacement is in compliance 
with the water body, tributary stream or wetland setback requirement to the 
greatest practical extent as determined by the Code Enforcement Officer in 
accordance with the purposes of this Ordinance. In no case shall a structure be 
reconstructed or replaced so as to increase its non-conformity. If the 
reconstructed or replacement structure is less than the required setback it shall 
not be any larger than the original structure, except as allowed pursuant to 
Section 12(C)(1) above, as determined by the non-conforming floor area and 
volume of the reconstructed or replaced structure at its new location. If the total 
amount of floor area and volume of the original structure can be relocated or 
reconstructed beyond the required setback area, no portion of the relocated or 
reconstructed structure shall be replaced or constructed at less than the setback 
requirement for a new structure. When it is necessary to remove vegetation in 
order to replace or reconstruct a structure, vegetation shall be replanted in 
accordance with Section 12(C)(2) above. 

 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 7 

 

 
 

Any non-conforming structure which is located less than the required setback 
from a water body, tributary stream, or wetland and which is removed by 50% or 
less of the market value, or damaged or destroyed by 50% or less of the market 
value of the structure, excluding normal maintenance and repair, may be 
reconstructed in place if a permit is obtained from the Code Enforcement Officer 
within one year of such damage, destruction, or removal. 
 
In determining whether the building reconstruction or replacement meets the 
setback to the greatest practical extent the Code Enforcement Officer shall 
consider, in addition to the criteria in Section 12(C)(2) above, the physical 
condition and type of foundation present, if any. 
 

(4) Change of Use of a Non-conforming Structure. The use of a non-conforming 
structure, is considered a special exception, and may not be changed to another 
use unless the Zoning Board of Appeals, after receiving a written application, 
determines that the new use will have no greater adverse impact on the water 
body, tributary stream, or wetland, or on the subject or adjacent properties and 
resources than the existing use. 

 
In determining that no greater adverse impact will occur, the Zoning Board of 
Appeals shall require written documentation from the applicant, regarding the 
probable effects on public health and safety, erosion and sedimentation, water 
quality, fish and wildlife habitat, vegetative cover, visual and actual points of 
public access to waters, natural beauty, floodplain management, archaeological 
and historic resources, and functionally water-dependent uses. 

 
D. Non-conforming Uses 
 

(1) Expansions. Expansions of non-conforming uses are prohibited, except that non-
conforming residential uses may, after obtaining a permit from the Zoning Board 
of Appeals, be expanded within existing residential structures or within 
expansions of such structures as allowed in Section 12(C)(1)(a) above. 
 

(2) Resumption Prohibited. A lot, building or structure in or on which a non-
conforming use is discontinued for a period exceeding one year, or which is 
superseded by a conforming use, may not again be devoted to a non-conforming 
use except that the Zoning Board of Appeals may, for good cause shown by the 
applicant, grant up to a one year extension to that time period. This provision 
shall not apply to the resumption of a use of a residential structure provided that 
the structure has been used or maintained for residential purposes during the 
preceding five (5) year period. 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 8 

 

 
 

(3) Change of Use. Changing an existing non-conforming use to another non-
conforming use is a special exception, and may occur provided that the proposed 
use has no greater adverse impact on the subject and adjacent properties and 
resources, including water dependent uses, than the former use, as determined 
by the Zoning Board Appeals. The determination of no greater adverse impact 
shall be made according to criteria listed in Section 12(C)(4) above. 

 

E. Non-conforming Lots 
 

(1) Non-conforming Lots: A non-conforming lot of record as of the effective date of 
this Ordinance or amendment thereto may be built upon, without the need for a 
variance, provided that such lot is in separate ownership and not contiguous 
with any other lot in the same ownership, and that all provisions of this 
Ordinance except lot area, lot width and shore frontage can be met. Variances 
relating to setback or other requirements not involving lot area, lot width or 
shore frontage shall be obtained by action of the Zoning Board of Appeals. 
 

(2) Contiguous Built Lots: If two or more contiguous lots or parcels are in a single 
or joint ownership of record at the time of adoption of this Ordinance, if all or 
part of the lots do not meet the dimensional requirements of this Ordinance, and 
if a principal use or structure exists on each lot, the non-conforming lots may be 
conveyed separately or together, provided that the State Minimum Lot Size Law 
(12 M.R.S.A. sections 4807-A through 4807-D) and the State of Maine Subsurface 
Wastewater Disposal Rules are complied with. 
 

 If two or more principal uses or structures existed on a single lot of record on the 
effective date of this ordinance, each may be sold on a separate lot provided that 
the above referenced law and rules are complied with. When such lots are 
divided each lot thus created must be as conforming as possible to the 
dimensional requirements of this Ordinance. 
 

(3) Contiguous Lots - Vacant or Partially Built: If two or more contiguous lots or 
parcels are in single or joint ownership of record at the time of or since adoption 
or amendment of this Ordinance, if any of these lots do not individually meet the 
dimensional requirements of this Ordinance or subsequent amendments, and if 
one or more of the lots are vacant or contain no principal structure the lots shall 
be combined to the extent necessary to meet the dimensional requirements. 
 

 This provision shall not apply to 2 or more contiguous lots, at least one of which 
is non-conforming, owned by the same person or persons on January 1, 1992, and 
recorded in the registry of deeds if the lot is served by a public sewer or can 
accommodate a subsurface sewage disposal system in conformance with the 
State of Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules; and 
 

(a) Each lot contains at least 100 feet of shore frontage and at least 20,000 square 
feet of lot area; or 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 9 

 

 
 

 

(b) Any lots that do not meet the frontage and lot size requirements of Section 
12(E)(3)(a) are reconfigured or combined so that each new lot contains at least 
100 feet of shore frontage and 20,000 square feet of lot area. 

 
SECTION 13 ESTABLISHMENT OF DISTRICTS 
 
A. Resource Protection District. The Resource Protection District includes areas in 

which development would adversely affect water quality, productive habitat, 
biological ecosystems, or scenic and natural values. This district shall include the 
following areas when they occur within the limits of the shoreland area, exclusive of 
the Stream Protection District, except that areas which are currently developed and 
areas which meet the criteria for the Limited Commercial, District need not be 
included within the Resource Protection District. 

 

(1) Areas within 250 feet, horizontal distance, of the upland edge of freshwater 
wetlands and wetlands associated with great ponds and rivers, which are rated 
"moderate" or "high" value waterfowl and wading bird habitat, including nesting 
and feeding areas, by the Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife 
(MDIF&W) that are depicted on a Geographic Information System (GIS) data 
layer maintained by either MDIF&W or the Department as of December 31, 2008.  
For the purposes of this paragraph “wetlands associated with great ponds and 
rivers” shall mean areas characterized by non-forested wetland vegetation and 
hydric soils that are contiguous with a great pond or river, and have a surface 
elevation at or below the water level of the great pond or river during the period 
of normal high water.  “Wetlands associated with great ponds or rivers” are 
considered to be part of that great pond or river.   
 

(2) Floodplains along rivers defined by the 100 year floodplain as designated on the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency's (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Maps 
or Flood Hazard Boundary Maps, or the flood of record, or in the absence of 
these, by soil types identified as recent floodplain soils.  
 

(3) Areas of two or more contiguous acres with sustained slopes of 20% or greater. 
 

(4) Areas of two (2) or more contiguous acres supporting wetland vegetation and 
hydric soils, which are not part of a freshwater or coastal wetland as defined, and 
which are not surficially connected to a water body during the period of normal 
high water. 
 

NOTE: These areas usually consist of forested wetlands abutting water bodies 
and non-forested wetlands. 

 
(5) Land areas along rivers subject to severe bank erosion, undercutting, or river bed 

movement. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 10 

 

 
 

B. Limited Residential District. The Limited Residential District includes those areas 
suitable for residential and recreational development. It includes areas other than 
those in the Resource Protection District, or Stream Protection District, and areas 
which are used less intensively than those in the Limited Commercial District or the 
General Development District. 
 

C. Limited Commercial District. The Limited Commercial District includes areas of 
mixed, light commercial and residential uses, exclusive of the Stream Protection 
District, which should not be developed as intensively as the General Development 
District. This district includes areas of two or more contiguous acres in size devoted 
to a mix of residential and low intensity business and commercial uses. Industrial 
uses are prohibited. 

 
D. General Development District. The General Development District includes the 

following types of existing or proposed, intensively developed areas: 
 
(1) Areas of two or more contiguous acres devoted to commercial, industrial or 

intensive recreational activities, or a mix of such activities, including but not 
limited to the following: 
 
(a) Areas devoted to manufacturing, fabricating or other industrial activities; 

 

(b) Areas devoted to wholesaling, warehousing, retail trade and service 
activities, or other commercial activities; and 
 

(c) Areas devoted to intensive recreational development and activities, such as, 
but not limited to amusement parks, race tracks and fairgrounds. 

 
(2) Areas otherwise discernible as having patterns of intensive commercial, 

industrial or recreational uses. 
 
Portions of the General Development District may also include residential 
development. However, no area shall be designated as a General Development 
District based solely on residential use. 
 
There shall be no General Development Districts established adjacent to great 
ponds. 

 
G. Stream Protection District. The Stream Protection District includes all land areas 

within seventy-five (75) feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high-water line of a 
stream, exclusive of those areas within two-hundred and fifty (250) feet, horizontal 
distance, of the normal high-water line of a great pond, river, or within two hundred 
and fifty (250) feet, horizontal distance, of the upland edge of a freshwater wetland. 
Where a stream and its associated shoreland area are located within two-hundred 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 11 

 

 
 

and fifty (250) feet, horizontal distance, of the above water bodies or wetlands, that 
land area shall be regulated under the terms of the district associated with that 
water body or wetland. 

 
SECTION 14 TABLE OF LAND USES 
 
All land use activities, as indicated in Table 1, Land Uses in the Shoreland Area, shall 
conform with all of the applicable land use standards in Section 15. The district 
designation for a particular site shall be determined from the Official Shoreland Zoning 
Map. 
 
Key to Table 1: 
 
Yes - Allowed (no permit required but the use must comply with all applicable land 

use standards.) 
 
No - Prohibited 
 
PB - Allowed with approval from the Planning Board and permit issued by the Code 

Enforcement Officer 
 
ZBA -  Allowed with approval from the Zoning Board of Appeals and permit issued by 

the Code Enforcement Officer. 
 
CEO - Allowed with permit issued by the Code Enforcement Officer 
 
LPI - Allowed with permit issued by the Local Plumbing Inspector 

 
 Abbreviations: 

 
RP - Resource Protection  GD - General Development  
 
LR - Limited Residential   
 
LC - Limited Commercial SP - Stream Protection 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 12 

 

 
 

TABLE 1. LAND USES IN THE SHORELAND AREA 
  LAND USES                 DISTRICT 
 SP RP LR LC GD  
1. Non-intensive recreational uses not requiring 

structures such as hunting, fishing and hiking 
 
yes 

 
yes 

 
yes 

 
yes 

 
yes 

2. Motorized vehicular traffic on existing roads and  
trails 

yes yes yes yes yes 

3. Forest management activities except for timber 
harvesting & land management roads 

yes yes yes yes yes 

4. Timber harvesting yes CEO yes yes yes 

5. Clearing or removal of vegetation for activities 
other than timber harvesting 

CEO CEO1 yes yes yes 

6. Fire prevention activities yes yes yes yes yes 

7. Wildlife management practices yes yes yes yes yes 

8. Soil and water conservation practices yes yes yes yes yes 

9. Mineral exploration no Yes2 yes2 yes2 yes2 

10. Mineral extraction including sand and gravel 
extraction 

no PB3 PB PB PB 

11. Surveying and resource analysis yes yes yes yes yes 

12. Emergency operations yes yes yes yes yes 

13. Agriculture yes PB yes yes yes 

14. Aquaculture PB PB PB yes yes 

15. Principal structures and uses 
A. One and two family residential, including 

driveways 

 
ZBA4 

 
ZBA9 

 
CEO 

 
CEO 

 
CEO 

B. Multi-unit residential no no PB PB PB 

C. Commercial no10 no no10 PB PB 

D. Industrial no no no no PB 

E. Governmental and institutional no no PB PB PB 

F. Small non-residential facilities for educational, 
scientific, or nature interpretation purposes 

PB4 PB CEO CEO CEO 

16. Structures accessory to allowed uses PB4 PB CEO CEO yes 

17. Piers, docks, wharfs, bridges and other 
structures and uses extending over or below 
the normal high-water line or within a 
wetland 
a. Temporary 
b. Permanent 

 
 
CEO11 
PB 

 
 
CEO11 
PB 

 
 
CEO11 
PB 

 
 
CEO11 
PB 

 
 
CEO11 
PB 

18. Conversions of seasonal residences to year-round 
residences 

LPI LPI LPI LPI LPI 

19. Home occupations ZBA ZBA ZBA CEO yes 

20. Private sewage disposal systems for allowed uses LPI LPI LPI LPI LPI 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 13 

 

 
 

21. Essential services      

A. Roadside distribution lines (34.5kV and 
lower) 

CEO6 CEO6 yes12 yes12 yes1

2 

B. Non-roadside or cross-country distribution 
lines involving ten poles or less in the 
shoreland area 

PB6 PB6 CEO CEO CEO 

C. Non-roadside or cross-country distribution 
lines involving eleven or more poles in the 
shoreland area 

PB6 PB6 PB PB PB 

D. Other essential services PB6 PB6 PB PB PB 

22. Service drops, as defined, to allowed uses yes yes yes yes yes 

23. Public and private recreational areas involving 
minimal structural development 

PB PB PB CEO CEO 

24. Individual private campsites CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO 

25. Campgrounds no no PB PB PB 

26. Road construction PB No8 PB PB PB 

27. Land management roads yes PB yes yes yes 

28. Parking facilities no no PB PB PB 

29. Marinas PB no PB PB PB 

30. Filling and earth moving of <10 cubic yards CEO CEO yes yes yes 

31. Filling and earth moving of >10 cubic yards PB PB CEO CEO CEO 

32. Signs yes yes yes yes yes 

33. Uses similar to allowed uses CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO 

34. Uses similar to uses requiring a CEO permit CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO 

35. Uses similar to uses requiring PB approval PB PB PB PB PB 

36. Uses similar to uses requiring ZBA approval ZBA ZBA ZBA ZBA ZBA 
 
1In RP not allowed within 75 feet horizontal distance, of the normal high-water line of 
great ponds, except to remove safety hazards. 

2Requires permit from the Code Enforcement Officer if more than 100 square feet of 
surface area, in total, is disturbed. 

3In RP not allowed in areas so designated because of wildlife value. 
4Provided that a variance from the setback requirement is obtained from the Zoning 
Board of Appeals. 

5Intentionally left blank. 
6See further restrictions in Section 15(L). 
7 Intentionally left blank. 
8Except as provided in Section 15(H). 
9Single family residential structures may be allowed by special exception only 
according to the provisions of Section 16(E), Special Exceptions. Two-family residential 
structures are prohibited. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 14 

 

 
 

10Except for commercial uses otherwise listed in this Table, such as marinas and 
campgrounds, that are allowed in the respective district. 

11Excluding bridges and other crossings not involving earthwork, in which case no 
permit is required. 

12Permit not required, but must file a written “notice of intent to construct” with CEO. 
 
NOTE: A person performing any of the following activities shall require a permit from 

the Department of Environmental Protection, pursuant to 38 M.R.S.A. section 
480-C, if the activity occurs in, on, over or adjacent to any freshwater or coastal 
wetland, great pond, river, stream or brook and operates in such a manner that 
material or soil may be washed into them: 
A. Dredging, bulldozing, removing or displacing soil, sand, vegetation or other 

materials; 
B. Draining or otherwise dewatering; 
C. Filling, including adding sand or other material to a sand dune; or 
D. Any construction or alteration of any permanent structure. 

 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 15 

 

 
 

SECTION 15 LAND USE STANDARDS 
 

All land use activities within the shoreland area shall conform with the following 
provisions, if applicable. 

 

A. Minimum Lot Standards 
(1)   Minimum Lot Minimum 

         Area (sq. ft.) Shore 
           Frontage (ft.) 

(a) Residential per dwelling unit 
within the shoreland area       40,000    200 

(b) Governmental, Institutional, Commercial or Industrial per principal 
structure 
within the shoreland area       60,000    300 

(c) Public and Private Recreational Facilities 
within the shoreland area       40,000    200 

 

(2) Land below the normal high-water line of a water body or upland edge of a 
wetland and land beneath roads serving more than two (2) lots shall not be 
included toward calculating minimum lot area. 
 

(3) Lots located on opposite sides of a public or private road shall be considered each 
a separate tract or parcel of land unless such road was established by the owner of 
land on both sides thereof after September 22, 1971. 
 

(4) The minimum width of any portion of any lot within one hundred (100) feet, 
horizontal distance, of the normal high-water line of a water body or upland edge 
of a wetland shall be equal to or greater than the shore frontage requirement for a 
lot with the proposed use. 
 

(5) If more than one residential dwelling unit, principal governmental, institutional, 
commercial or industrial structure or use, or combination thereof, is constructed or 
established on a single parcel, all dimensional requirements shall be met for each 
additional dwelling unit, principal structure, or use. 

 

B. Principal and Accessory Structures 
 

(1) All new principal and accessory structures shall be set back at least one hundred 
(100) feet, horizontal distance, from the normal high-water line of great ponds, and 
seventy-five (75) feet, horizontal distance, from the normal high-water line of other 
water bodies, tributary streams, or the upland edge of a wetland. In the Resource 
Protection District the setback requirement is effectively the shoreland area 
distance, except for structures, roads, parking spaces or other regulated objects 
specifically allowed in that district in which case the setback requirements 
specified above shall apply. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 16 

 

 
 

 Exception: 
 

(a) The water body, tributary stream, or wetland setback provision shall neither 
apply to structures which require direct access to the water body or wetland as 
an operational necessity, such as piers, docks and retaining walls, nor to other 
functionally water-dependent uses. 

 

NOTE: Refer to Section 17 for the definitions for water bodies, tributary stream, and 
wetland.  

 
(2) Principal or accessory structures and expansions of existing structures which are 

permitted in the Resource Protection, Limited Residential, Limited Commercial, 
and Stream Protection Districts, shall not exceed thirty-five (35) feet in height. This 
provision shall not apply to structures such as transmission towers, windmills, 
antennas, and similar structures having no floor area. 
 

(3) The lowest floor elevation or openings of all buildings and structures, including 
basements, shall be elevated at least one foot above the elevation of the 100 year 
flood, the flood of record, or in the absence of these, the flood as defined by soil 
types identified as recent floodplain soils.  

 
(4) The total footprint area of all structures, parking lots and other non-vegetated 

surfaces, within the shoreland area shall not exceed twenty (20) percent of the lot 
or a portion thereof, located within the shoreland area, including land area 
previously developed. 
 

(5) Retaining walls that are not necessary for erosion control shall meet the structure 
setback requirement. 

 

NOTE: If a structure and associated soil disturbance occurs within 75 feet, 
horizontal distance, of a water body, tributary stream or coastal 
wetland, a permit pursuant to the Natural Resource Protection Act is 
required from the Department of Environmental Protection. 

 
(6) Notwithstanding the requirements stated above, stairways or similar structures 

may be allowed with a permit from the Code Enforcement Officer, to provide 
shoreline access in areas of steep slopes or unstable soils provided: that the 
structure is limited to a maximum of four (4) feet in width; that the structure does 
not extend below or over the normal high-water line of a water body or upland 
edge of a wetland, (unless permitted by the Department of Environmental 
Protection pursuant to the Natural Resources Protection Act, 38 M.R.S.A. section 
480-C); and that the applicant demonstrates that no reasonable access alternative 
exists on the property. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 17 

 

 
 

C. Piers, Docks, Wharves, Bridges and Other Structures and Uses Extending Over or 
Below the Normal High-Water Line of a Water Body or Within a Wetland. 
 
(1) Access from shore shall be developed on soils appropriate for such use and 

constructed so as to control erosion. 
 

(2) The location shall not interfere with existing developed or natural beach areas. 
 

(3) The facility shall be located so as to minimize adverse effects on fisheries. 
 

(4) The facility shall be no larger in dimension than necessary to carry on the activity 
and be consistent with the surrounding character and uses of the area. A 
temporary pier, dock or wharf shall not be wider than six feet for non-commercial 
uses. 
 

(5) No new structure shall be built on, over or abutting a pier, wharf, dock or other 
structure extending below the normal high-water line of a water body or within 
a wetland unless the structure requires direct access to the water body or 
wetland as an operational necessity. 
 

(6) New permanent piers and docks shall not be permitted unless it is clearly 
demonstrated to the Planning Board that a temporary pier or dock is not feasible, 
and a permit has been obtained from the Department of Environmental 
Protection, pursuant to the Natural Resources Protection Act. 
 

(7) No existing structures built on, over or abutting a pier, dock, wharf or other 
structure extending below the normal high-water line of a water body or within 
a wetland shall be converted to residential dwelling units in any district. 
 

(8) Structures built on, over or abutting a pier, wharf, dock or other structure 
extending below the normal high-water line of a water body or within a wetland 
shall not exceed twenty (20) feet in height above the pier, wharf, dock or other 
structure. 

 

NOTE: New permanent structures, and expansions thereof, projecting into or 
over water bodies shall require a permit from the Department of 
Environmental Protection pursuant to the Natural Resources Protection 
Act, 38 M.R.S.A. section 480-C. Permits may also be required from the 
Army Corps of Engineers if located in navigable waters. 

 
 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 18 

 

 
 

D. Campgrounds. Campgrounds shall conform to the minimum requirements imposed 
under State licensing procedures and the following: 
 

(1) Campgrounds shall contain a minimum of five thousand (5,000) square feet of 
land, not including roads and driveways, for each site. Land supporting wetland 
vegetation, and land below the normal high-water line of a water body shall not 
be included in calculating land area per site. 
 

(2) The areas intended for placement of a recreational vehicle, tent or shelter, and 
utility and service buildings shall be set back a minimum of one hundred (100) 
feet, horizontal distance, from the normal high-water line of a great pond, and 
seventy-five (75) feet, horizontal distance, from the normal high-water line of 
other water bodies, tributary streams, or the upland edge of a wetland. 
 

E. Individual Private Campsites. Individual private campsites not associated with 
campgrounds are allowed provided the following conditions are met: 

 

(1) One campsite per lot existing on the effective date of this Ordinance, or thirty 
thousand (30,000) square feet of lot area within the shoreland area, whichever is 
less, may be permitted. 
 

(2) Campsite placement on any lot, including the area intended for a recreational 
vehicle or tent platform, shall be set back one hundred (100) feet, horizontal 
distance, from the normal high-water line of a great pond, and seventy-five (75) 
feet, horizontal distance, from the normal high-water line of other water bodies, 
tributary streams, or the upland edge of a wetland. 
 

(3) Only one recreational vehicle shall be allowed on a campsite. The recreational 
vehicle shall not be located on any type of permanent foundation except for a 
gravel pad, and no structure except a canopy shall be attached to the recreational 
vehicle. 
 

(4) The clearing of vegetation for the siting of the recreational vehicle, tent or similar 
shelter in a Resource Protection District shall be limited to one thousand (1000) 
square feet. 
 

(5) A written sewage disposal plan describing the proposed method and location of 
sewage disposal shall be required for each campsite and shall be approved by the 
Local Plumbing Inspector. Where disposal is off-site, written authorization from 
the receiving facility or land owner is required. 
 

(6) When a recreational vehicle, tent or similar shelter is placed on-site for more than 
one hundred and twenty (120) days per year, all requirements for residential 
structures shall be met, including the installation of a subsurface sewage disposal 
system in compliance with the State of Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal 
Rules unless served by public sewage facilities. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 19 

 

 
 

F. Commercial and Industrial Uses. The following new commercial and industrial 
uses are prohibited within the shoreland area adjacent to great ponds and streams 
which flow to great ponds: 

 
(1) Auto washing facilities 

 

(2) Auto or other vehicle service and/or repair operations, including body shops 
 

(3) Chemical and bacteriological laboratories 
 

(4) Storage of chemicals, including herbicides, pesticides or fertilizers, other than 
amounts normally associated with individual households or farms 
 

NOTE: 22 M.R.S.A. section 1471-U requires municipal ordinances that apply to 
pesticide storage, distribution or use be filed with the Maine Board of 
Pesticides Control, 28 State House Station, Augusta, ME 04333. If a 
municipality’s ordinance is more inclusive or restrictive than these 
Guidelines, as it pertains to pesticides, a copy of the ordinance must be 
filed with the Board of Pesticides Control. 

 

(5) Commercial painting, wood preserving, and furniture stripping 
 

(6) Dry cleaning establishments 
 

(7) Electronic circuit assembly 
 

(8) Laundromats, unless connected to a sanitary sewer 
 

(9) Metal plating, finishing, or polishing 
 

(10)Petroleum or petroleum product storage and/or sale except storage on same 
property as use occurs and except for storage and sales associated with marinas 
 

(11) Photographic processing 
 

(12) Printing 
 
G. Parking Areas 
 

(1) Parking areas shall meet the shoreline and tributary stream setback requirements 
for structures for the district in which such areas are located. The setback 
requirement for parking areas serving public boat launching facilities shall be no 
less than fifty (50) feet, horizontal distance, from the shoreline or tributary stream 
if the Planning Board finds that no other reasonable alternative exists further 
from the shoreline or tributary stream. 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 20 

 

 
 

(2) Parking areas shall be adequately sized for the proposed use and shall be 
designed to prevent stormwater runoff from flowing directly into a water body, 
tributary stream or wetland and where feasible, to retain all runoff on-site. 
 

(3) In determining the appropriate size of proposed parking facilities, the following 
shall apply: 

 
(a) Typical parking space: Approximately ten (10) feet wide and twenty (20) feet 

long, except that parking spaces for a vehicle and boat trailer shall be forty 
(40) feet long. 
 

(b) Internal travel aisles: Approximately twenty (20) feet wide. 
 

H. Roads and Driveways. The following standards shall apply to the construction of 
roads and/or driveways and drainage systems, culverts and other related features. 

 
(1) Roads and driveways shall be set back at least one-hundred (100) feet, horizontal 

distance, from the normal high-water line of a great pond, and seventy-five (75) 
feet, horizontal distance from the normal high-water line of other water bodies, 
tributary streams, or the upland edge of a wetland unless no reasonable 
alternative exists as determined by the Planning Board. If no other reasonable 
alternative exists, the road and/or driveway setback requirement shall be no less 
than fifty (50) feet, horizontal distance, upon clear showing by the applicant that 
appropriate techniques will be used to prevent sedimentation of the water body, 
tributary stream, or wetland. Such techniques may include, but are not limited 
to, the installation of settling basins, and/or the effective use of additional ditch 
relief culverts and turnouts placed so as to avoid sedimentation of the water 
body, tributary stream, or wetland. 
 

 On slopes of greater than twenty (20) percent the road and/or driveway setback 
shall be increased by ten (10) feet, horizontal distance, for each five (5) percent 
increase in slope above twenty (20) percent. 
 

 Section 15 (H)(1) does not apply to approaches to water crossings or to roads or 
driveways that provide access to permitted structures and facilities located 
nearer to the shoreline or tributary stream due to an operational necessity, 
excluding temporary docks for recreational uses. Roads and driveways 
providing access to permitted structures within the setback area shall comply 
fully with the requirements of Section 15(H)(1) except for that portion of the road 
or driveway necessary for direct access to the structure. 
 

(2) Existing public roads may be expanded within the legal road right of way 
regardless of their setback from a water body, tributary stream or wetland. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 21 

 

 
 

 
(3) New roads and driveways are prohibited in a Resource Protection District except 

that the Planning Board may grant approval to construct a road or driveway to 
provide access to permitted uses within the district. A road or driveway may 
also be approved by the Planning Board in a Resource Protection District, upon a 
finding that no reasonable alternative route or location is available outside the 
district. When a road or driveway is permitted in a Resource Protection District 
the road and/or driveway shall be set back as far as practicable from the normal 
high-water line of a water body, tributary stream, or upland edge of a wetland. 
 

(4) Road and driveway banks shall be no steeper than a slope of two (2) horizontal 
to one (1) vertical, and shall be graded and stabilized in accordance with the 
provisions for erosion and sedimentation control contained in Section 15(Q). 
 

(5) Road and driveway grades shall be no greater than ten (10) percent except for 
segments of less than two hundred (200) feet. 
 

(6) In order to prevent road and driveway surface drainage from directly entering 
water bodies, tributary streams or wetlands, roads and driveways shall be 
designed, constructed, and maintained to empty onto an unscarified buffer strip 
at least (50) feet plus two times the average slope, in width between the outflow 
point of the ditch or culvert and the normal high-water line of a water body, 
tributary stream, or upland edge of a wetland. Surface drainage which is directed 
to an unscarified buffer strip shall be diffused or spread out to promote 
infiltration of the runoff and to minimize channelized flow of the drainage 
through the buffer strip. 
 

(7) Ditch relief (cross drainage) culverts, drainage dips and water turnouts shall be 
installed in a manner effective in directing drainage onto unscarified buffer strips 
before the flow gains sufficient volume or head to erode the road, driveway, or 
ditch. To accomplish this, the following shall apply: 
 
(a) Ditch relief culverts, drainage dips and associated water turnouts shall be 

spaced along the road or driveway at intervals no greater than indicated in 
the following table: 

 Grade    Spacing 
 (Percent)    (Feet) 
 

0-2     250 
3-5     200-135 
6-10     100-80 
11-15     80-60 
16-20     60-45 
21 +     40 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 22 

 

 
 

(b) Drainage dips may be used in place of ditch relief culverts only where the 
grade is ten (10) percent or less. 
 

(c) On sections having slopes greater than ten (10) percent, ditch relief culverts 
shall be placed at approximately a thirty (30) degree angle downslope from a 
line perpendicular to the centerline of the road or driveway. 
 

(d) Ditch relief culverts shall be sufficiently sized and properly installed in order 
to allow for effective functioning, and their inlet and outlet ends shall be 
stabilized with appropriate materials. 

 
(8) Ditches, culverts, bridges, dips, water turnouts and other storm water runoff 

control installations associated with roads and driveways shall be maintained on 
a regular basis to assure effective functioning. 

 
I. Signs. The following provisions shall govern the use of signs in the Resource 

Protection, Stream Protection, Limited Residential and Limited Commercial 
Districts: 
 
(1) Signs relating to goods and services sold on the premises shall be allowed, 

provided that such signs shall not exceed six (6) square feet in area and shall not 
exceed two (2) signs per premises. In the Limited Commercial District, however, 
such signs shall not exceed sixteen (16) square feet in area. Signs relating to 
goods or services not sold or rendered on the premises shall be prohibited. 
 

(2) Name signs are allowed, provided such signs shall not exceed two (2) signs per 
premises, and shall not exceed twelve (12) square feet in the aggregate. 
 

(3) Residential users may display a single sign not over three (3) square feet in area 
relating to the sale, rental, or lease of the premises. 
 

(4) Signs relating to trespassing and hunting shall be allowed without restriction as 
to number provided that no such sign shall exceed two (2) square feet in area. 
 

(5) Signs relating to public safety shall be allowed without restriction. 
 

(6) No sign shall extend higher than twenty (20) feet above the ground. 
 

(7) Signs may be illuminated only by shielded, non-flashing lights. 
 
 
 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 23 

 

 
 

J. Storm Water Runoff 
 

(1) All new construction and development shall be designed to minimize storm 
water runoff from the site in excess of the natural predevelopment conditions. 
Where possible, existing natural runoff control features, such as berms, swales, 
terraces and wooded areas, shall be retained in order to reduce runoff and 
encourage infiltration of stormwaters. 
 

(2) Storm water runoff control systems shall be maintained as necessary to ensure 
proper functioning. 
 

NOTE: The Stormwater Management Law (38 M.R.S.A. section 420-D) 
requires a full permit to be obtained from the DEP prior to 
construction of a project consisting of 20,000 square feet or more of 
impervious area or 5 acres or more of a developed area in an urban 
impaired stream watershed or most-at-risk lake watershed, or a project 
with 1 acre or more of developed area in any other stream, coastal or 
wetland watershed. A permit-by-rule is necessary for a project with 
one acre or more of disturbed area but less than 1 acre impervious area 
(20,000 square feet for most-at-risk lakes and urban impaired streams) 
and less than 5 acres of developed area. Furthermore, a Maine 
Construction General Permit is required if the construction will result 
in one acre or more of disturbed area. 

 
K. Septic Waste Disposal 
 

(1) All subsurface sewage disposal systems shall be installed in conformance with 
the State of Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules, and the following:  

(a) clearing or removal of woody vegetation necessary to site a new system 
and any associated fill extensions, shall not extend closer than seventy-five 
(75) feet, horizontal distance, from the normal high-water line of a water 
body or the upland edge of a wetland; and  

(b) a holding tank is not allowed for a first-time residential use in the 
shoreland area. 

 

NOTE: The Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules require new systems, 
excluding fill extensions, to be constructed no less than one hundred (100) 
horizontal feet from the normal high-water line of a perennial water body. 
The minimum setback distance for a new subsurface disposal system may 
not be reduced by variance. 

 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 24 

 

 
 

L. Essential Services 
 

(1) Where feasible, the installation of essential services shall be limited to existing 
public ways and existing service corridors. 
 

(2) The installation of essential services, other than road-side distribution lines, is 
not allowed in a Resource Protection or Stream Protection District, except to 
provide services to a permitted use within said district, or except where the 
applicant demonstrates that no reasonable alternative exists. Where allowed, 
such structures and facilities shall be located so as to minimize any adverse 
impacts on surrounding uses and resources, including visual impacts. 
 

(3) Damaged or destroyed public utility transmission and distribution lines, towers 
and related equipment may be replaced or reconstructed without a permit. 

 
M. Mineral Exploration and Extraction. Mineral exploration to determine the nature or 

extent of mineral resources shall be accomplished by hand sampling, test boring, or 
other methods which create minimal disturbance of less than one hundred (100) 
square feet of ground surface. A permit from the Code Enforcement Officer shall be 
required for mineral exploration which exceeds the above limitation. All 
excavations, including test pits and holes, shall be immediately capped, filled or 
secured by other equally effective measures to restore disturbed areas and to protect 
the public health and safety. 
 

 Mineral extraction may be permitted under the following conditions: 
 

(1) A reclamation plan shall be filed with, and approved, by the Planning Board 
before a permit is granted. Such plan shall describe in detail procedures to be 
undertaken to fulfill the requirements of Section 15 (M)(3) below. 
 

(2) No part of any extraction operation, including drainage and runoff control 
features, shall be permitted within one hundred (100) feet, horizontal distance, of 
the normal high-water line of a great pond, and within seventy-five (75) feet, 
horizontal distance, of the normal high-water line of any other water body, 
tributary stream, or the upland edge of a wetland. Extraction operations shall not 
be permitted within fifty (50) feet, horizontal distance, of any property line 
without written permission of the owner of such adjacent property. 
 

(3) Within twelve (12) months following the completion of extraction operations at 
any extraction site, which operations shall be deemed complete when less than 
one hundred (100) cubic yards of materials are removed in any consecutive 
twelve (12) month period, ground levels and grades shall be established in 
accordance with the following: 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 25 

 

 
 

 
(a) All debris, stumps, and similar material shall be removed for disposal in an 

approved location, or shall be buried on-site. Only materials generated on-
site may be buried or covered on-site. 

 

NOTE: The State of Maine Solid Waste Laws, 38 M.R.S.A., section 1301 and the 
solid waste management rules, Chapters 400-419 of the Department of 
Environmental Protection's regulations may contain other applicable 
provisions regarding disposal of such materials. 

 
(b) The final graded slope shall be two and one-half to one (2 1/2:1) slope or 

flatter. 
 

(c) Top soil or loam shall be retained to cover all disturbed land areas, which 
shall be reseeded and stabilized with vegetation native to the area. Additional 
topsoil or loam shall be obtained from off-site sources if necessary to 
complete the stabilization project. 

 
(4) In keeping with the purposes of this Ordinance, the Planning Board may impose 

such conditions as are necessary to minimize the adverse impacts associated with 
mineral extraction operations on surrounding uses and resources. 

 
N. Agriculture 
 

(1) All spreading of manure shall be accomplished in conformance with the Manure 
Utilization Guidelines published by the Maine Department of Agriculture on 
November 1, 2001, and the Nutrient Management Law (7 M.R.S.A. sections 4201-
4209). 
 

(2) Manure shall not be stored or stockpiled within one hundred (100) feet, 
horizontal distance, of a great pond, or within seventy-five (75) feet horizontal 
distance, of other water bodies, tributary streams, or wetlands. All manure 
storage areas within the shoreland area must be constructed or modified such 
that the facility produces no discharge of effluent or contaminated storm water. 
 

(3) Agricultural activities involving tillage of soil greater than forty thousand 
(40,000) square feet in surface area, within the shoreland area shall require a 
Conservation Plan to be filed with the Planning Board. Non-conformance with 
the provisions of said plan shall be considered to be a violation of this Ordinance. 

 

NOTE: Assistance in preparing a Conservation Plan may be available through 
the local Soil and Water Conservation District office. 

 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 26 

 

 
 

(4) There shall be no new tilling of soil within one-hundred (100) feet, horizontal 
distance, of the normal high-water line of a great pond; within seventy-five (75) 
feet, horizontal distance, from other water bodies; nor within twenty-five (25) 
feet, horizontal distance, of tributary streams and freshwater wetlands. 
Operations in existence on the effective date of this ordinance and not in 
conformance with this provision may be maintained. 
 

(5) Newly established livestock grazing areas shall not be permitted within one 
hundred (100) feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high-water line of a great 
pond; within seventy-five (75) feet, horizontal distance, of other water bodies; 
nor within twenty-five (25) feet, horizontal distance, of tributary streams and 
freshwater wetlands. Livestock grazing associated with ongoing farm activities, 
and which are not in conformance with the above setback provisions may 
continue, provided that such grazing is conducted in accordance with a 
Conservation Plan. 

 
(6) Water withdrawls for agricultural irrigation are allowed within the shoreland 

area, as long as they are in compliance with Chapter 587 “In-stream flow 
standards” and with best management practices as applicable. 

 
O. Timber Harvesting – Statewide Standards 
 

(1) Shoreline integrity and sedimentation. Persons conducting timber harvesting 
and related activities must take reasonable measures to avoid the disruption of 
shoreline integrity, the occurrence of sedimentation of water, and the disturbance 
of water body and tributary stream banks, water body and tributary stream 
channels, shorelines, and soil lying within water bodies, tributary streams and 
wetlands. If, despite such precautions, the disruption of shoreline integrity, 
sedimentation of water, or the disturbance of water body and tributary stream 
banks, water body and tributary stream channels, shorelines, and soil lying 
within water bodies, tributary streams and wetlands occurs, such conditions 
must be corrected. 

 
(2) Slash treatment. Timber harvesting and related activities shall be conducted 

such that slash or debris is not left below the normal high-water line of any water 
body or tributary stream, or the upland edge of a wetland. Section 15(O)(2) does 
not apply to minor, incidental amounts of slash that result from timber 
harvesting and related activities otherwise conducted in compliance with this 
section. 

 
(a) Slash actively used to protect soil from disturbance by equipment or to 

stabilize exposed soil, may be left in place, provided that no part thereof 
extends more than 4 feet above the ground. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 27 

 

 
 

 
(b) Adjacent to great ponds, rivers and wetlands: 

 
(i) No accumulation of slash shall be left within 50 feet, horizontal distance, 

of the normal high-water line or upland edge of a wetland; and 
 

(ii) Between 50 feet and 250 feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high-
water line or upland edge of a wetland, all slash larger than 3 inches in 
diameter must be disposed of in such a manner that no part thereof 
extends more than 4 feet above the ground. 

 
(3) Timber harvesting and related activities must leave adequate tree cover and shall 

be conducted so that a well-distributed stand of trees is retained. This 
requirement may be satisfied by following one of the following three options: 

 
(a) Option 1 (40% volume removal), as follows: 

 
(i) Harvesting of no more than 40 percent of the total volume on each acre of 

trees 4.5 inches DBH or greater in any 10 year period is allowed. Volume 
may be considered to be equivalent to basal area; 

 
(ii) A well-distributed stand of trees which is windfirm, and other vegetation 

including existing ground cover, must be maintained; and, 
 
(iii) Within 75 feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high-water line of rivers, 

streams, and great ponds, and within 75 feet, horizontal distance, of the 
upland edge of a freshwater or coastal wetlands, there must be no cleared 
openings. At distances greater than 75 feet, horizontal distance, of the 
normal high-water line of a river or great pond or upland edge of a 
wetland, timber harvesting and related activities must not create single 
cleared openings greater than 14,000 square feet in the forest canopy. Where 
such openings exceed 10,000 square feet, they must be at least 100 feet, 
horizontal distance, apart. Such cleared openings will be included in the 
calculation of total volume removal. Volume may be considered equivalent 
to basal area. 

 
(b) Option 2 (60 square foot basal area retention), as follows: 

 
(i) The residual stand must contain an average basal area of at least 60 square 

feet per acre of woody vegetation greater than or equal to 1.0 inch DBH, of 
which 40 square feet per acre must be greater than or equal to 4.5 inches 
DBH; 

 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 28 

 

 
 

(ii) A well-distributed stand of trees which is windfirm, and other vegetation 
including existing ground cover, must be maintained; and, 

 
(iii) Within 75 feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high-water line of water 

bodies and within 75 feet, horizontal distance, of the upland edge of 
wetlands, there must be no cleared openings. At distances greater than 75 
feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high-water line of a river or great 
pond, or upland edge of a wetland, timber harvesting and related 
activities must not create single cleared openings greater than 14,000 
square feet in the forest canopy. Where such openings exceed 10,000 
square feet, they must be at least 100 feet, horizontal distance, apart. Such 
cleared openings will be included in the calculation of the average basal 
area. Volume may be considered equivalent to basal area. 

 
(c) Option 3 (Outcome based), which requires: An alternative method proposed 

in an application, signed by a Licensed Forester or certified wildlife 
professional, submitted by the landowner or designated agent to the State of 
Maine Department of Conservation’s Bureau of Forestry (Bureau) for review 
and approval, which provides equal or better protection of the shoreland area 
than this rule. 
 

Landowners must designate on the Forest Operations Notification form required by 
12 M.R.S.A. chapter 805, subchapter 5 which option they choose to use. If 
landowners choose Option 1 or Option 2, compliance will be determined solely on 
the criteria for the option chosen. If landowners choose Option 3, timber harvesting 
and related activities may not begin until the Bureau has approved the alternative 
method. 

 
The Bureau may verify that adequate tree cover and a well-distributed stand of trees 
is retained through a field procedure that uses sample plots that are located 
randomly or systematically to provide a fair representation of the harvest area. 

 
(4) Skid trails, yards, and equipment operation. This requirement applies to the 

construction, maintenance, and use of skid trails and yards in shoreland areas. 
 
(a) Equipment used in timber harvesting and related activities shall not use river, 

stream or tributary stream channels as travel routes except when surface 
waters are frozen and snow covered, and the activity will not result in any 
ground disturbance. 

(b) Skid trails and yards must be designed and constructed to prevent sediment 
and concentrated water runoff from entering a water body, tributary stream, 
or wetland. Upon termination of their use, skid trails and yards must be 
stabilized. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 29 

 

 
 

(c) Setbacks: 
 
(i) Equipment must be operated to avoid the exposure of mineral soil within 

25 feet, horizontal distance, of any water body, tributary stream, or 
wetland. On slopes of 10 percent or greater, the setback for equipment 
operation must be increased by 20 feet, horizontal distance, plus an 
additional 10 feet, horizontal distance, for each 5 percent increase in slope 
above 10 percent. Where slopes fall away from the resource, no increase in 
the 25-foot setback is required. 

 
(ii) Where such setbacks are impracticable, appropriate techniques shall be 

used to avoid sedimentation of the water body, tributary stream or 
wetland. Such techniques may include the installation of sump holes or 
settling basins, and/or the effective use of additional ditch relief culverts 
and ditch water turnouts placed to avoid sedimentation of the water 
body, tributary stream, or wetland. If, despite such precautions, 
sedimentation or the disruption of shoreline integrity occurs, such 
conditions must be corrected. 

 
(5) Land Management Roads. Land management roads, including approaches to 

crossings of water bodies, tributary stream channels, and freshwater wetlands, 
ditches and other related structures, must be designed, constructed, and 
maintained to prevent sediment and concentrated water runoff from directly 
entering the water body, tributary stream or wetland. Surface water on or 
adjacent to water crossing approaches must be diverted through vegetative filter 
strips to avoid sedimentation of the watercourse or wetland. Because roadside 
ditches may not extend to the resource being crossed, vegetative filter strips 
must be established in accordance with the setback requirements in Section 
15(O)(7) of this rule. 
 
(a) Land management roads and associated ditches, excavation, and fill must be 

set back at least: 
 

(i) 100 feet, horizontal distance, from the normal high-water line of a great 
pond, river or freshwater or coastal wetland; 
 

(ii) 50 feet, horizontal distance, from the normal high-water line of streams; 
and 

 
(iii)25 feet, horizontal distance, from the normal high-water line of tributary 

streams 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 30 

 

 
 

(b) The minimum 100 foot setback specified in Section 15(O)(5)(a)(i) above may 
be reduced to no less than 50 feet, horizontal distance, and the 50 foot 
setback specified in Section 15(O)(5)(a)(ii) above may be reduced to no less 
than 25 feet, horizontal distance, if, prior to construction, the landowner or 
the landowner’s designated agent demonstrates to the Planning Board’s 
satisfaction that no reasonable alternative exists and that appropriate 
techniques will be used to prevent sedimentation of the water body, 
tributary stream, or wetland. Such techniques may include, but are not 
limited to, the installation of settling basins, and/or the effective use of 
additional ditch relief culverts and turnouts placed to avoid sedimentation 
of the water body, tributary stream or wetland. If, despite such precautions, 
sedimentation or the disruption of shoreline integrity occurs, such 
conditions must be corrected. 

 
(c) On slopes of 10 percent or greater, the land management road setback must 

be increased by at least 20 feet, horizontal distance, plus an additional 10 feet, 
horizontal distance, for each 5 percent increase in slope above 10 percent. 

 
(d) New land management roads are not allowed within the shoreland area 

along Significant River Segments as identified in 38 M.R.S.A. section 437, 
nor in a Resource Protection District, unless, prior to construction, the 
landowner or the landowner’s designated agent makes a clear 
demonstration to the Planning Board’s satisfaction that no reasonable 
alternative route exists outside the shoreland zone, and that the new road 
must be set back as far as practicable from the normal high-water line and 
screened from the river by existing vegetation. 
 

(e) Ditches, culverts, bridges, dips, water turnouts and other water control 
installations associated with roads must be maintained on a regular basis to 
assure effective functioning. Drainage structures shall deliver a dispersed 
flow of water into an unscarified filter strip no less than the width indicated 
in the setback requirements in Section 15(O)(7). Where such a filter strip is 
impracticable, appropriate techniques shall be used to avoid sedimentation of 
the water body, tributary stream, or wetland. Such techniques may include 
the installation of sump holes or settling basins, and/or the effective use of 
additional ditch relief culverts and ditch water turnouts placed to avoid 
sedimentation of the water body, tributary stream, or wetland. If, despite 
such precautions, sedimentation or the disruption of shoreline integrity 
occurs, such conditions must be corrected. 
 
 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 31 

 

 
 

(f) Road closeout and discontinuance. Maintenance of the water control 
installations required in Section 15(O)(5)(e) must continue until use of the 
road is discontinued and the road is put to bed by effective installation of 
water bars or other adequate road drainage structures at appropriate 
intervals, constructed to avoid surface water flowing over or under the water 
bar, and extending a sufficient distance beyond the traveled way so that 
water does not reenter the road surface. 
 

(g) Upgrading existing roads. Extension or enlargement of presently existing 
roads must conform to the provisions of Section 15(O). Any nonconforming 
existing road may continue to exist and to be maintained, as long as the 
nonconforming conditions are not made more nonconforming. 
 

(h) Exception. Extension or enlargement of presently existing roads need not 
conform to the setback requirements of Section 15(O)(5)(a) if, prior to 
extension or enlargement, the landowner or the landowner’s designated 
agent demonstrates to the Planning Board’s satisfaction that no reasonable 
alternative exists and that appropriate techniques will be used to prevent 
sedimentation of the water body, tributary stream, or wetland. Such 
techniques may include, but are not limited to, the installation of settling 
basins, and/or the effective use of additional ditch relief culverts and 
turnouts placed to avoid sedimentation of the water body, tributary stream, 
or wetland. If, despite such precautions, sedimentation or the disruption of 
shoreline integrity occurs, such conditions must be corrected. 

 
(i) Additional measures. In addition to the foregoing minimum requirements, 

persons undertaking construction and maintenance of roads and river, stream 
and tributary stream crossings must take reasonable measures to avoid 
sedimentation of surface waters. 
 

(6) Crossings of waterbodies. Crossings of rivers, streams, and tributary streams 
must allow for fish passage at all times of the year, must not impound water, and 
must allow for the maintenance of normal flows. 

 
(a) Determination of flow. Provided they are properly applied and used for the 

circumstances for which they are designed, methods including but not 
limited to the following are acceptable as a means of calculating the 10 year 
and 25 year frequency water flows and thereby determining water crossing 
sizes as required in Section 15(O): The United States Geological Survey 
(USGS) Methods; specifically: Hodgkins, G. 1999. Estimating the Magnitude 
of Peak Flows for Streams in Maine for Selected Recurrence Intervals. U.S. 
Geological Survey. Water Resources Investigations Report 99-4008. 45 pp. 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 32 

 

 
 

(b) Upgrading existing water crossings. Extension or enlargement of presently 
existing water crossings must conform to the provisions of Section 15(O). Any 
nonconforming existing water crossing may continue to exist and be 
maintained, as long as the nonconforming conditions are not made more 
nonconforming; however, any maintenance or repair work done below the 
normal high-water line must conform to the provisions of Section 15(O). 
 

(c) Other Agency Permits. Any timber harvesting and related activities 
involving the design, construction, and maintenance of crossings on 
waterbodies other than a river, stream or tributary stream may require a 
permit from the Land Use Regulation Commission, the Department of 
Environmental Protection, or the US Army Corps of Engineers. 

 

(d) Any timber harvesting and related activities involving the design, 
construction, and maintenance of crossings of freshwater wetlands identified 
by the Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife as essential wildlife 
habitat require prior consultation with the Department of Inland Fisheries 
and Wildlife. 

 

(e) Notice to Bureau of Forestry. Written notice of all water crossing 
construction maintenance, alteration and replacement activities in shoreland 
areas must be given to the Bureau prior to the commencement of such 
activities. Such notice must contain all information required by the Bureau, 
including: 

 

(i) a map showing the location of all proposed permanent crossings; 
(ii) the GPS location of all proposed permanent crossings; 
(iii) for any temporary or permanent crossing that requires a permit from 

state or federal agencies, a copy of the approved permit or permits; 
and 

(iv) a statement signed by the responsible party that all temporary and 
permanent crossings will be constructed, maintained, and closed out 
in accordance with the requirements of this Section. 

 

(f) Water crossing standards. All crossings of rivers require a bridge or culvert 
sized according to the requirements of Section 15(O)(6)(g)) below. Streams 
and tributary streams may be crossed using temporary structures that are not 
bridges or culverts provided: 
 

(i) concentrated water runoff does not enter the stream or tributary stream; 
(ii) sedimentation of surface waters is reasonably avoided; 
(iii) there is no substantial disturbance of the bank, or stream or tributary 

stream channel; 
(iv) fish passage is not impeded; and, 
(v) water flow is not unreasonably impeded. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 33 

 

 
 

Subject to Section 15(O)(6)(f)(i-v) above, skid trail crossings of streams and 
tributary streams when channels of such streams and tributary streams are 
frozen and snow-covered or are composed of a hard surface which will not be 
eroded or otherwise damaged are not required to use permanent or 
temporary structures. 

 

(g) Bridge and Culvert Sizing. For crossings of river, stream and tributary 
stream channels with a bridge or culvert, the following requirements apply: 

 

(i) Bridges and culverts must be installed and maintained to provide an 
opening sufficient in size and structure to accommodate 10 year frequency 
water flows or with a cross-sectional area at least equal to 2 1/2 times the 
cross-sectional area of the river, stream, or tributary stream channel. 

(ii) Temporary bridge and culvert sizes may be smaller than provided in 
Section 15(O)(6)(g)(i) if techniques are effectively employed such that in 
the event of culvert or bridge failure, the natural course of water flow is 
maintained and sedimentation of the water body or tributary stream is 
avoided. Such crossing structures must be at least as wide as the channel 
and placed above the normal high-water line. Techniques may include, 
but are not limited to, the effective use of any, a combination of, or all of 
the following: 
1. use of temporary skidder bridges; 
2. removing culverts prior to the onset of frozen ground conditions; 
3. using water bars in conjunction with culverts; 
4. using road dips in conjunction with culverts. 

(iii)Culverts utilized in river, stream and tributary stream crossings must: 
1. be installed at or below river, stream or tributary stream bed elevation; 
2. be seated on firm ground; 
3. have soil compacted at least halfway up the side of the culvert; 
4. be covered by soil to a minimum depth of 1 foot or according to the 

culvert manufacturer's specifications, whichever is greater; and 
5. have a headwall at the inlet end which is adequately stabilized by 

riprap or other suitable means to reasonably avoid erosion of material 
around the culvert. 

(iv) River, stream and tributary stream crossings allowed under Section 
15(O), but located in flood hazard areas (i.e. A zones) as identified on a 
community's Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM) or Flood Hazard 
Boundary Maps (FHBM), must be designed and constructed under the 
stricter standards contained in that community's National Flood 
Insurance Program (NFIP). For example, a water crossing may be 
required to pass a 100-year flood event. 

 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 34 

 

 
 

(v) Exception. Skid trail crossings of tributary streams within shoreland 
areas and wetlands adjacent to such streams may be undertaken in a 
manner not in conformity with the requirements of the foregoing 
subsections provided persons conducting such activities take reasonable 
measures to avoid the disruption of shoreline integrity, the occurrence of 
sedimentation of water, and the disturbance of stream banks, stream 
channels, shorelines, and soil lying within ponds and wetlands. If, 
despite such precautions, the disruption of shoreline integrity, 
sedimentation of water, or the disturbance of stream banks, stream 
channels, shorelines, and soil lying within ponds and wetlands occurs, 
such conditions must be corrected. 

 
(h) Skid trail closeout. Upon completion of timber harvesting and related 

activities, or upon the expiration of a Forest Operations Notification, 
whichever is earlier, the following requirements apply: 
 
(i) Bridges and culverts installed for river, stream and tributary stream 

crossings by skid trails must either be removed and areas of exposed soil 
stabilized, or upgraded to comply with the closeout standards for land 
management roads in Section15(O)(6)(i) below. 

 
(ii) Water crossing structures that are not bridges or culverts must either be 

removed immediately following timber harvesting and related activities, 
or, if frozen into the river, stream or tributary stream bed or bank, as soon 
as practical after snowmelt. 

 
(iii)River, stream and tributary stream channels, banks and approaches to 

crossings of water bodies and tributary streams must be immediately 
stabilized on completion of harvest, or if the ground is frozen and/or 
snow-covered, as soon as practical after snowmelt. If, despite such 
precautions, sedimentation or the disruption of shoreline integrity occurs, 
such conditions must be corrected. 

 
(i) Land management road closeout. Maintenance of the water control features 

must continue until use of the road is discontinued and the road is put to bed 
by taking the following actions: 

 
(i) Effective installation of water bars or other adequate road drainage 

structures at appropriate intervals, constructed to reasonably avoid 
surface water flowing over or under the water bar, and extending 
sufficient distance beyond the traveled way so that water does not reenter 
the road surface. 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 35 

 

 
 

(ii) Water crossing structures must be appropriately sized or dismantled and 
removed in a manner that reasonably avoids sedimentation of the water 
body or tributary stream. 
 

(iii)Any bridge or water crossing culvert in roads to be discontinued shall 
satisfy one of the following requirements: 

 

1. it shall be designed to provide an opening sufficient in size and 
structure to accommodate 25 year frequency water flows; 

2. it shall be designed to provide an opening with a cross-sectional area 
at least 3 1/2 times the cross-sectional area of the river, stream or 
tributary stream channel; or 

3. it shall be dismantled and removed in a fashion to reasonably avoid 
sedimentation of the river, stream or tributary stream. 

 

If, despite such precautions, sedimentation or the disruption of shoreline 
integrity occurs, such conditions must be corrected. 
 

(7) Slope Table 
 

Filter strips, skid trail setbacks, and land management road setbacks must be 
maintained as specified in Section 15(O), but in no case shall be less than shown 
in the following table. 

 

Average slope of land between exposed   Width of strip between exposed 
mineral soil and the shoreline (percent)  mineral soil and shoreline 
  (feet along surface of the ground) 

0 25 
10 45 
20 65 
30 85 
40 105 
50 125 
60 145 
70 165 

 

P. Clearing or Removal of Vegetation for Activities Other Than Timber Harvesting 
 

(1) In a Resource Protection District abutting a great pond, there shall be no cutting 
of vegetation within the strip of land extending 75 feet, horizontal distance, 
inland from the normal high-water line, except to remove safety hazards. 
 

 Elsewhere, in any Resource Protection District the cutting or removal of 
vegetation shall be limited to that which is necessary for uses expressly 
authorized in that district. 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 36 

 

 
 

(2) Except in areas as described in Section P(1), above, and except to allow for the 
development of permitted uses, within a strip of land extending one-hundred 
(100) feet, horizontal distance, inland from the normal high-water line of a great 
pond, and seventy-five (75) feet, horizontal distance, from any other water body, 
tributary stream, or the upland edge of a wetland, a buffer strip of vegetation 
shall be preserved as follows: 
 
(a) There shall be no cleared opening greater than 250 square feet in the forest 

canopy (or other existing woody vegetation if a forested canopy is not 
present) as measured from the outer limits of the tree or shrub crown. 
However, a footpath not to exceed six (6) feet in width as measured between 
tree trunks and/or shrub stems is allowed provided that a cleared line of 
sight to the water through the buffer strip is not created. 
 

(b) Selective cutting of trees within the buffer strip is allowed provided that a 
well-distributed stand of trees and other natural vegetation is maintained. For 
the purposes of Section 15(P)(2)(b) a "well-distributed stand of trees" adjacent 
to a great pond or stream flowing to a great pond, shall be defined as 
maintaining a rating score of 24 or more in each 25-foot by 50-foot rectangular 
(1250 square feet) area as determined by the following rating system. 
 
Diameter of Tree at 4-1/2 feet Above   Points 

  Ground Level (inches) 
2<4 1 
4<8 2 
8<12 4 
12 or greater 8 
 

 Adjacent to other water bodies, tributary streams, and wetlands, a "well-
distributed stand of trees" is defined as maintaining a minimum rating score 
of 16 per 25-foot by 50-foot rectangular area. 

 

NOTE: As an example, adjacent to a great pond, if a 25-foot x 50-foot plot 
contains four (4) trees between 2 and 4 inches in diameter, two trees 
between 4 and 8 inches in diameter, three trees between 8 and 12 
inches in diameter, and two trees over 12 inches in diameter, the 
rating score is: 

 
  (4x1)+(2x2) + (3x4) + (2x8) = 36 points 
 
 Thus, the 25-foot by 50-foot plot contains trees worth 36 points. Trees 

totaling 12 points (36- 24 =12) may be removed from the plot provided 
that no cleared openings are created. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 37 

 

 
 

 
 The following shall govern in applying this point system: 

 
(i) The 25-foot by 50-foot rectangular plots must be established where the 

landowner or lessee proposes clearing within the required buffer; 
(ii) Each successive plot must be adjacent to, but not overlap a previous 

plot; 
(iii)Any plot not containing the required points must have no vegetation 

removed except as otherwise allowed by this Ordinance; 
(iv) Any plot containing the required points may have vegetation removed 

down to the minimum points required or as otherwise allowed by is 
Ordinance; 

(v) Where conditions permit, no more than 50% of the points on any 25-
foot by 50-foot rectangular area may consist of trees greater than 12 
inches in diameter. 

 
For the purposes of Section 15(P)(2)(b) “other natural vegetation” is 
defined as retaining existing vegetation under three (3) feet in height and 
other ground cover and retaining at least five (5) saplings less than two (2) 
inches in diameter at four and one half (4 ½) feet above ground level for 
each 25-foot by 50-foot rectangle area. If five (5) saplings do not exist, no 
woody stems less than two (2) inches in diameter can be removed until 
five (5) saplings have been recruited into the plot. 
 
Notwithstanding the above provisions, no more than 40% of the total 
volume of trees four (4) inches or more in diameter, measured at 4 1/2 feet 
above ground level may be removed in any ten (10) year period. 

 
(c) In order to protect water quality and wildlife habitat, existing vegetation 

under three (3) feet in height and other ground cover, including leaf litter and 
the forest duff layer, shall not be cut, covered, or removed, except to provide 
for a footpath or other permitted uses as described in Section 15(P) 
paragraphs (2) and (2)(a) above. 
 

(d) Pruning of tree branches, on the bottom 1/3 of the tree is allowed. 
 

(e) In order to maintain a buffer strip of vegetation, when the removal of storm-
damaged, diseased, unsafe, or dead trees results in the creation of cleared 
openings, these openings shall be replanted with native tree species unless 
existing new tree growth is present. 

 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 38 

 

 
 

 Section 15(P)(2) does not apply to those portions of public recreational 
facilities adjacent to public swimming areas as long as cleared areas are 
limited to the minimum area necessary. 

 
(3) At distances greater than one hundred (100) feet, horizontal distance, from a 

great pond, and seventy-five (75) feet, horizontal distance, from the normal high-
water line of any other water body, tributary stream, or the upland edge of a 
wetland, there shall be allowed on any lot, in any ten (10) year period, selective 
cutting of not more than forty (40) percent of the volume of trees four (4) inches 
or more in diameter, measured 4 1/2 feet above ground level. Tree removal in 
conjunction with the development of permitted uses shall be included in the 
forty (40) percent calculation. For the purposes of these standards volume may 
be considered to be equivalent to basal area. 
 

 In no event shall cleared openings for any purpose, including but not limited to, 
principal and accessory structures, driveways, lawns and sewage disposal areas, 
exceed in the aggregate, 25% of the lot area within the shoreland area or ten 
thousand (10,000) square feet, whichever is greater, including land previously 
cleared. This provision shall not apply to the General Development District. 
 

(4) Legally existing nonconforming cleared openings may be maintained, but shall 
not be enlarged, except as allowed by this Ordinance. 
 

(5) Fields and other cleared openings which have reverted to primarily shrubs, trees, 
or other woody vegetation shall be regulated under the provisions of Section 
15(P). 

 
Q. Erosion and Sedimentation Control 
 

(1) All activities which involve filling, grading, excavation or other similar activities 
which result in unstabilized soil conditions and which require a permit shall also 
require a written soil erosion and sedimentation control plan. The plan shall be 
submitted to the permitting authority for approval and shall include, where 
applicable, provisions for: 

 
(a) Mulching and revegetation of disturbed soil. 

 
(b) Temporary runoff control features such as hay bales, silt fencing or diversion 

ditches. 
 

(c) Permanent stabilization structures such as retaining walls or riprap. 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 39 

 

 
 

(2) In order to create the least potential for erosion, development shall be designed 
to fit with the topography and soils of the site. Areas of steep slopes where high 
cuts and fills may be required shall be avoided wherever possible, and natural 
contours shall be followed as closely as possible. 
 

(3) Erosion and sedimentation control measures shall apply to all aspects of the 
proposed project involving land disturbance, and shall be in operation during all 
stages of the activity. The amount of exposed soil at every phase of construction 
shall be minimized to reduce the potential for erosion. 
 

(4) Any exposed ground area shall be temporarily or permanently stabilized within 
one (1) week from the time it was last actively worked, by use of riprap, sod, 
seed, and mulch, or other effective measures. In all cases permanent stabilization 
shall occur within nine (9) months of the initial date of exposure. In addition: 

 

(a) Where mulch is used, it shall be applied at a rate of at least one (1) bale per 
five hundred (500) square feet and shall be maintained until a catch of 
vegetation is established. 

(b) Anchoring the mulch with netting, peg and twine or other suitable method 
may be required to maintain the mulch cover. 

(c) Additional measures shall be taken where necessary in order to avoid 
siltation into the water. Such measures may include the use of staked hay 
bales and/or silt fences. 

 

(5) Natural and man-made drainage ways and drainage outlets shall be protected 
from erosion from water flowing through them. Drainageways shall be designed 
and constructed in order to carry water from a twenty five (25) year storm or 
greater, and shall be stabilized with vegetation or lined with riprap. 
 

R. Soils. All land uses shall be located on soils in or upon which the proposed uses or 
structures can be established or maintained without causing adverse environmental 
impacts, including severe erosion, mass soil movement, improper drainage, and 
water pollution, whether during or after construction. Proposed uses requiring 
subsurface waste disposal, and commercial or industrial development and other 
similar intensive land uses, shall require a soils report based on an on-site 
investigation and be prepared by state-certified professionals. Certified persons may 
include Maine Certified Soil Scientists, Maine Registered Professional Engineers, 
Maine State Certified Geologists and other persons who have training and 
experience in the recognition and evaluation of soil properties. The report shall be 
based upon the analysis of the characteristics of the soil and surrounding land and 
water areas, maximum ground water elevation, presence of ledge, drainage 
conditions, and other pertinent data which the evaluator deems appropriate. The 
soils report shall include recommendations for a proposed use to counteract soil 
limitations where they exist. 

 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 40 

 

 
 

S. Water Quality. No activity shall deposit on or into the ground or discharge to the 
waters of the State any pollutant that, by itself or in combination with other 
activities or substances, will impair designated uses or the water classification of the 
water body, tributary stream or wetland. 
 

T. Archaeological Site. Any proposed land use activity involving structural 
development or soil disturbance on or adjacent to sites listed on, or eligible to be 
listed on the National Register of Historic Places, as determined by the permitting 
authority, shall be submitted by the applicant to the Maine Historic Preservation 
Commission for review and comment, at least twenty (20) days prior to action being 
taken by the permitting authority. The permitting authority shall consider 
comments received from the Commission prior to rendering a decision on the 
application. 

 
SECTION 16 ADMINISTRATION 
 
A. Administering Bodies and Agents 
 

(1) Code Enforcement Officer. A Code Enforcement Officer shall be appointed or 
reappointed annually by July 1st. 
 

(2) Zoning Board of Appeals. A Zoning Board of Appeals shall be created in 
accordance with the provisions of 30-A M.R.S.A. section 2691. 
 

(3) Planning Board. A Planning Board shall be created in accordance with the 
provisions of State law. 
 

B. Permits Required. After the effective date of this Ordinance no person shall, 
without first obtaining a permit, engage in any activity or use of land or structure 
requiring a permit in the district in which such activity or use would occur; or 
expand, change, or replace an existing use or structure; or renew a discontinued 
nonconforming use. A person who is issued a permit pursuant to this Ordinance 
shall have a copy of the permit on site while the work authorized by the permit is 
performed. 
 

 (1) A permit is not required for the replacement of an existing road culvert as long 
as: 

 
(a) The replacement culvert is not more than 25% longer than the culvert being 

replaced; 
(b) The replacement culvert is not longer than 75 feet; and 
(c) Adequate erosion control measures are taken to prevent sedimentation of the 

water, and the crossing does not block fish passage in the watercourse. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 41 

 

 
 

 
(2) A permit is not required for an archaeological excavation as long as the 

excavation is conducted by an archaeologist listed on the State Historic 
Preservation Officer’s level 1 or level 2 approved list, and unreasonable erosion 
and sedimentation is prevented by means of adequate and timely temporary and 
permanent stabilization measures. 
 

(3) Any permit required by this Ordinance shall be in addition to any other permit 
required by other law or ordinance. 

 
C. Permit Application 

 
(1) Every applicant for a permit shall submit a written application, including a 

scaled site plan, on a form provided by the municipality, to the appropriate 
official as indicated in Section 14. 
 

(2) All applications shall be signed by an owner or individual who can show 
evidence of right, title or interest in the property or by an agent, representative, 
tenant, or contractor of the owner with authorization from the owner to apply 
for a permit hereunder, certifying that the information in the application is 
complete and correct. 
 

(3) All applications shall be dated, and the appropriate official as indicated in 
Section 14 shall note upon each application the date and time of its receipt. 
 

(4) If the property is not served by a public sewer, a valid plumbing permit or a 
completed application for a plumbing permit, including the site evaluation 
approved by the Plumbing Inspector, shall be submitted whenever the nature of 
the proposed structure or use would require the installation of a subsurface 
sewage disposal system. 

 
D. Procedure for Administering Permits. Within 35 days of the date of receiving a 

written application, the the appropriate official as indicated in Section 14 shall notify 
the applicant in writing either that the application is a complete application, or, if 
the application is incomplete, that specified additional material is needed to make 
the application complete. The appropriate officials as indicated in Section 14 shall 
approve, approve with conditions, or deny all permit applications in writing within 
35 days of receiving a completed application. However, if appropriate officials as 
indicated in Section 14 have a waiting list of applications, a decision on the 
application shall occur within 35 days after the first available date on the 
appropriate officials’ agenda following receipt of the completed application, or 
within 35 days of the public hearing, if the proposed use or structure is found to be 
in conformance with the purposes and provisions of this Ordinance. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 42 

 

 
 

 
 The applicant shall have the burden of proving that the proposed land use activity is 

in conformity with the purposes and provisions of this Ordinance. 
 

 After the submission of a complete application to the appropriate officials as 
indicated in Section 14, the appropriate Board shall approve an application or 
approve it with conditions if it makes a positive finding based on the information 
presented that the proposed use: 

 
(1) Will maintain safe and healthful conditions; 

 
(2) Will not result in water pollution, erosion, or sedimentation to surface waters; 

 
(3) Will adequately provide for the disposal of all wastewater; 

 
(4) Will not have an adverse impact on spawning grounds, fish, aquatic life, bird or 

other wildlife habitat; 
 

(5) Will conserve shore cover and visual, as well as actual, points of access to inland 
waters; 
 

(6) Will protect archaeological and historic resources as designated in the 
comprehensive plan; 
 

(7) Will avoid problems associated with floodplain development and use; and 
 

(8) Is in conformance with the provisions of Section 15, Land Use Standards. 
 
 If a permit is either denied or approved with conditions, the reasons as well as 

conditions shall be stated in writing. No approval shall be granted for an application 
involving a structure if the structure would be located in an unapproved 
subdivision or would violate any other local ordinance, or regulation or statute 
administered by the municipality. 

 
E. Special Exceptions. In addition to the criteria specified in Section 16(D) above, 

excepting structure setback requirements, the Zoning Board of Appeals may 
approve an application for a single family residential structure in a Resource 
Protection District provided that the applicant demonstrates that all of the following 
conditions are met: 

 
 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 43 

 

 
 

(1) There is no location on the property, other than a location within the Resource 
Protection District, where the structure can be built. 
 

(2) The lot on which the structure is proposed is undeveloped and was established 
and recorded in the registry of deeds of the county in which the lot is located 
before the adoption of the Resource Protection District. 
 

(3) All proposed buildings, sewage disposal systems and other improvements are: 
 

(a) Located on natural ground slopes of less than 20%; and 
 

(b) Located outside the floodway of the 100-year floodplain along rivers based 
on detailed flood insurance studies and as delineated on the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency's Flood Boundary and Floodway Maps and 
Flood Insurance Rate Maps; all buildings, including basements, are elevated 
at least one foot above the 100-year floodplain elevation; and the 
development is otherwise in compliance with any applicable municipal 
floodplain ordinance. 
 

 If the floodway is not shown on the Federal Emergency Management Agency 
Maps, it is deemed to be 1/2 the width of the 100-year floodplain. 
 

(4) The total ground-floor area, including cantilevered or similar overhanging 
extensions, of all principal and accessory structures is limited to a maximum of 
1,500 square feet. This limitation shall not be altered by variance. 
 

(5) All structures, except functionally water-dependent structures, are set back from 
the normal high-water line of a water body, tributary stream or upland edge of a 
wetland to the greatest practical extent, but not less than 75 feet, horizontal 
distance. In determining the greatest practical extent, the Zoning Board of 
Appeals shall consider the depth of the lot, the slope of the land, the potential for 
soil erosion, the type and amount of vegetation to be removed, the proposed 
building site's elevation in regard to the floodplain, and its proximity to 
moderate-value and high-value wetlands. 

 
F. Expiration of Permit. Permits shall expire one year from the date of issuance if a 

substantial start is not made in construction or in the use of the property during that 
period. If a substantial start is made within one year of the issuance of the permit, 
the applicant shall have one additional year to complete the project, at which time 
the permit shall expire. 

 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 44 

 

 
 

G. Installation of Public Utility Service. A public utility, water district, sanitary 
district or any utility company of any kind may not install services to any new 
structure located in the shoreland area unless written authorization attesting to the 
validity and currency of all local permits required under this or any previous 
Ordinance has been issued by the appropriate municipal officials or other written 
arrangements have been made between the municipal officials and the utility. 

 
H. Appeals 
 

(1) Powers and Duties of the Zoning Board of Appeals. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
shall also have the following powers: 

 
(a) Administrative Appeals: To hear and decide administrative appeals, on a de 

novo basis, where it is alleged by an aggrieved party that there is an error in 
any order, requirement, decision, or determination made by, or failure to act 
by, the Planning Board or the Code Enforcement Officer in the administration 
of this Ordinance or in the review of and action on a permit application under 
this Ordinance. Any order, requirement, decision or determination made, or 
failure to act, by the Zoning Board of Appeals in the administration of this 
Ordinance or in the review of and action on a permit application under this 
Ordinance is not appealable to the Zoning Board of Appeals. Any order, 
requirement, decision or determination made, or failure to act, in the 
enforcement of this ordinance is not appealable to the Zoning Board of 
Appeals. 
 

(b) Variance Appeals: To authorize variances upon appeal, within the limitations 
set forth in this Ordinance. 

 
(2) Variance Appeals. Variances may be granted only under the following conditions: 

 
(a) Variances may be granted only from dimensional requirements including, but 

not limited to, lot width, structure height, percent of lot coverage, and setback 
requirements. 
 

(b) Variances shall not be granted for establishment of any uses otherwise 
prohibited by this Ordinance. 
 

(c) The Board shall not grant a variance unless it finds that: 
 

(i) The proposed structure or use would meet the provisions of Section 15 
except for the specific provision which has created the non-conformity and 
from which relief is sought; and 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 45 

 

 
 

(ii) The strict application of the terms of this Ordinance would result in undue 
hardship. The term "undue hardship" shall mean: 

 
a. That the land in question cannot yield a reasonable return unless a 

variance is granted; 
 

b. That the need for a variance is due to the unique circumstances of the 
property and not to the general conditions in the neighborhood; 
 

c. That the granting of a variance will not alter the essential character of 
the locality; and 
 

d. That the hardship is not the result of action taken by the applicant or a 
prior owner. 

 
(d) Notwithstanding Section 16(H)(2)(c)(ii) above, the Zoning Board of Appeals 

may grant a variance to an owner of a residential dwelling for the purpose of 
making that dwelling accessible to a person with a disability who resides in or 
regularly uses the dwelling. The board shall restrict any variance granted 
under this subsection solely to the installation of equipment or the construction 
of structures necessary for access to or egress from the dwelling by the person 
with the disability. The board may impose conditions on the variance, 
including limiting the variance to the duration of the disability or to the time 
that the person with the disability lives in the dwelling. The term “structures 
necessary for access to or egress from the dwelling" shall include railing, wall 
or roof systems necessary for the safety or effectiveness of the structure. 
 

(e) The Zoning Board of Appeals shall limit any variances granted as strictly as 
possible in order to ensure conformance with the purposes and provisions of 
this Ordinance to the greatest extent possible, and in doing so may impose such 
conditions to a variance as it deems necessary. The party receiving the variance 
shall comply with any conditions imposed. 
 

(f) A copy of each variance request, including the application and all supporting 
information supplied by the applicant, shall be forwarded by the municipal 
officials to the Commissioner of the Department of Environmental Protection at 
least twenty (20) days prior to action by the Zoning Board of Appeals. Any 
comments received from the Commissioner prior to the action by the Zoning 
Board of Appeals shall be made part of the record and shall be taken into 
consideration by Zoning the Board of Appeals. 
 
 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 46 

 

 
 

(3) Administrative Appeals 
 

When the Zoning Board of Appeals reviews a decision of the the Planning Board 
or Code Enforcement Officer, the Zoning Board of Appeals shall hold a “de novo” 
hearing. At this time the Board may receive and consider new evidence and 
testimony, be it oral or written. When acting in a “de novo” capacity the Zoning 
Board of Appeals shall hear and decide the matter afresh, undertaking its own 
independent analysis of evidence and the law, and reaching its own decision. 

 
(4) Appeal Procedure 

 
(a) Making an Appeal 

 
(i) An administrative or variance appeal may be taken to the Zoning Board of 

Appeals by an aggrieved party from any decision of the Code Enforcement 
Officer or the Planning Board, except for matters as described in Section 
16(H)(1)(a) above. Such an appeal shall be taken within thirty (30) days of 
the date of the official, written decision appealed from, and not otherwise, 
except that the Board, upon a showing of good cause, may waive the thirty 
(30) day requirement. 
 

(ii) Applications for appeals shall be made by filing with the Zoning Board of 
Appeals a written notice of appeal which includes: 
 
a. A concise written statement indicating what relief is requested and why 

the appeal or variance should be granted. 
 

b. A sketch drawn to scale showing lot lines, location of existing buildings 
and structures and other physical features of the lot pertinent to the 
relief sought. 

 
(iii)Upon receiving an application for an administrative appeal or a variance, 

the Code Enforcement Officer or Planning Board, as appropriate, shall 
transmit to the Zoning Board of Appeals all of the papers constituting the 
record of the decision appealed from. 
 

(iv)The Zoning Board of Appeals shall hold a public hearing on an 
administrative appeal or a request for a variance within thirty-five (35) days 
of its receipt of a complete written application, unless this time period is 
extended by the parties. 
 
 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 47 

 

 
 

(b) Decision by Zoning Board of Appeals 
 

(i) A majority of the full voting membership of the Board shall constitute a 
quorum for the purpose of deciding an appeal. 

 
(ii) The person filing the appeal shall have the burden of proof. 

 
(iii)The Board shall decide all administrative appeals and variance appeals 

within thirty five (35) days after the close of the hearing, and shall issue a 
written decision on all appeals. 

 
(iv)The Zoning Board of Appeals shall state the reasons and basis for its 

decision, including a statement of the facts found and conclusions reached 
by the Board. The Board shall cause written notice of its decision to be 
mailed or hand-delivered to the applicant and to the Department of 
Environmental Protection within seven (7) days of the Board’s decision. 
Copies of written decisions of the Zoning Board of Appeals shall be given to 
the Planning Board, Code Enforcement Officer, and the municipal officers. 

 
(5) Appeal to Superior Court. Except as provided by 30-A M.R.S.A. section 2691(3)(F), 

any aggrieved party who participated as a party during the proceedings before the 
Zoning Board of Appeals may take an appeal to Superior Court in accordance with 
State laws within forty-five (45) days from the date of any decision of the Zoning 
Board of Appeals. 
 

(6) Reconsideration. In accordance with 30-A M.R.S.A. section 2691(3)(F), the Zoning 
Board of Appeals may reconsider any decision within forty-five (45) days of its 
prior decision. A request to the Board to reconsider a decision must be filed within 
ten (10) days of the decision that is being reconsidered. A vote to reconsider and 
the action taken on that reconsideration must occur and be completed within forty-
five (45) days of the date of the vote on the original decision. Reconsideration of a 
decision shall require a positive vote of the majority of the Board members 
originally voting on the decision, and proper notification to the landowner, 
petitioner, planning board, code enforcement officer, and other parties of interest, 
including abutters and those who testified at the original hearing(s). The Board 
may conduct additional hearings and receive additional evidence and testimony. 

 
Appeal of a reconsidered decision to Superior Court must be made within fifteen 
(15) days after the decision on reconsideration. 

 
I. Enforcement 
 

(1) Nuisances. Any violation of this Ordinance shall be deemed to be a nuisance. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 48 

 

 
 

 
(2) Code Enforcement Officer 

 
(a) It shall be the duty of the Code Enforcement Officer to enforce the provisions 

of this Ordinance. If the Code Enforcement Officer shall find that any 
provision of this Ordinance is being violated, he or she shall notify in writing 
the person responsible for such violation, indicating the nature of the 
violation and ordering the action necessary to correct it, including 
discontinuance of illegal use of land, buildings or structures, or work being 
done, removal of illegal buildings or structures, and abatement of nuisance 
conditions. A copy of such notices shall be submitted to the municipal officers 
and be maintained as a permanent record. 
 

(b) The Code Enforcement Officer shall conduct on-site inspections to ensure 
compliance with all applicable laws and conditions attached to permit 
approvals. The Code Enforcement Officer shall also investigate all complaints 
of alleged violations of this Ordinance. 
 

(c) The Code Enforcement Officer shall keep a complete record of all essential 
transactions of the office, including applications submitted, permits granted or 
denied, variances granted or denied, revocation actions, revocation of permits, 
appeals, court actions, violations investigated, violations found, and fees 
collected.  
 

(3) Legal Actions. When the above action does not result in the correction or 
abatement of the violation or nuisance condition, the Municipal Officers, upon 
notice from the Code Enforcement Officer, are hereby directed to institute any and 
all actions and proceedings, either legal or equitable, including seeking injunctions 
of violations and the imposition of fines, that may be appropriate or necessary to 
enforce the provisions of this Ordinance in the name of the municipality. The 
municipal officers, or their authorized agent, are hereby authorized to enter into 
administrative consent agreements for the purpose of eliminating violations of this 
Ordinance and recovering fines without Court action. Such agreements shall not 
allow an illegal structure or use to continue unless there is clear and convincing 
evidence that the illegal structure or use was constructed or conducted as a direct 
result of erroneous advice given by an authorized municipal official and there is 
no evidence that the owner acted in bad faith, or unless the removal of the 
structure or use will result in a threat or hazard to public health and safety or will 
result in substantial environmental damage. 

 
(4) Fines. Any person, including but not limited to a landowner, a landowner's agent 

or a contractor, who violates any provision or requirement of this Ordinance shall 
be penalized in accordance with 30-A, M.R.S.A. section 4452. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 49 

 

 
 

 

NOTE: Current penalties include fines of not less than $100 nor more than $2500 
per violation for each day that the violation continues. However, in a 
resource protection district the maximum penalty is increased to $5000 
(38 M.R.S.A. section 4452). 

 
SECTION 17 DEFINITIONS 
 
Accessory structure or use - a use or structure which is incidental and subordinate to the 

principal use or structure. Accessory uses, when aggregated, shall not subordinate the 
principal use of the lot. A deck or similar extension of the principal structure or a 
garage attached to the principal structure by a roof or a common wall is considered 
part of the principal structure. 

 
Aggrieved party - an owner of land whose property is directly or indirectly affected by 

the granting or denial of a permit or variance under this Ordinance; a person whose 
land abuts land for which a permit or variance has been granted; or any other person 
or group of persons who have suffered particularized injury as a result of the granting 
or denial of such permit or variance. 

 
Agriculture - the production, keeping or maintenance for sale or lease, of plants and/or 

animals, including but not limited to: forages and sod crops; grains and seed crops; 
dairy animals and dairy products; poultry and poultry products; livestock; fruits and 
vegetables; and ornamental and green-house products. Agriculture does not include 
forest management and timber harvesting activities. 

 
Aquaculture - the growing or propagation of harvestable freshwater, estuarine, or marine 

plant or animal species. 
 
Basal Area - the area of cross-section of a tree stem at 4 1/2 feet above ground level and 

inclusive of bark. 
 
Basement - any portion of a structure with a floor-to-ceiling height of 6 feet or more and 

having more than 50% of its volume below the existing ground level. 
 
Boat Launching Facility - a facility designed primarily for the launching and landing of 

watercraft, and which may include an access ramp, docking area, and parking spaces 
for vehicles and trailers. 

 
Bureau – State of Maine Department of Conservation’s Bureau of Forestry 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 50 

 

 
 

Campground - any area or tract of land to accommodate two (2) or more parties in 
temporary living quarters, including, but not limited to tents, recreational vehicles or 
other shelters. 
 

Canopy – the more or less continuous cover formed by tree crowns in a wooded area. 
 

Commercial use - the use of lands, buildings, or structures, other than a "home 
occupation," defined below, the intent and result of which activity is the production 
of income from the buying and selling of goods and/or services, exclusive of rental 
of residential buildings and/or dwelling units. 

 
Cross-sectional area – the cross-sectional area of a stream or tributary stream channel is 

determined by multiplying the stream or tributary stream channel width by the 
average stream or tributary stream channel depth. The stream or tributary stream 
channel width is the straight line distance from the normal high-water line on one 
side of the channel to the normal high-water line on the opposite side of the channel. 
The average stream or tributary stream channel depth is the average of the vertical 
distances from a straight line between the normal high-water lines of the stream or 
tributary stream channel to the bottom of the channel. 

 
DBH – the diameter of a standing tree measured 4.5 feet from ground level. 
 
Development – a change in land use involving alteration of the land, water or 

vegetation, or the addition or alteration of structures or other construction not 
naturally occurring. 

 
Dimensional requirements - numerical standards relating to spatial relationships 

including but not limited to setback, lot area, shore frontage and height. 
 
Disability - any disability, infirmity, malformation, disfigurement, congenital defect or 

mental condition caused by bodily injury, accident, disease, birth defect, 
environmental conditions or illness; and also includes the physical or mental 
condition of a person which constitutes a substantial handicap as determined by a 
physician or in the case of mental handicap, by a psychiatrist or psychologist, as well 
as any other health or sensory impairment which requires special education, 
vocational rehabilitation or related services. 

 
Disruption of shoreline integrity - the alteration of the physical shape, properties, or 

condition of a shoreline at any location by timber harvesting and related activities. A 
shoreline where shoreline integrity has been disrupted is recognized by compacted, 
scarified and/or rutted soil, an abnormal channel or shoreline cross-section, and in 
the case of flowing waters, a profile and character altered from natural conditions. 

 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 51 

 

 
 

Driveway - a vehicular access-way less than five hundred (500) feet in length serving 
two single-family dwellings or one two-family dwelling, or less. 

 
Emergency operations - operations conducted for the public health, safety or general 

welfare, such as protection of resources from immediate destruction or loss, law 
enforcement, and operations to rescue human beings, property and livestock from 
the threat of destruction or injury. 

 
Essential services - gas, electrical or communication facilities; steam, fuel, electric 

power or water transmission or distribution lines, towers and related equipment; 
telephone cables or lines, poles and related equipment; gas, oil, water, slurry or 
other similar pipelines; municipal sewage lines, collection or supply systems; and 
associated storage tanks. Such systems may include towers, poles, wires, mains, 
drains, pipes, conduits, cables, fire alarms and police call boxes, traffic signals, 
hydrants and similar accessories, but shall not include service drops or buildings 
which are necessary for the furnishing of such services. 

 
Expansion of a structure - an increase in the floor area or volume of a structure, 

including all extensions such as, but not limited to: attached decks, garages, porches 
and greenhouses. 

 
Expansion of use - the addition of one or more months to a use's operating season; or 

the use of more floor area or ground area devoted to a particular use. 
 
Family - one or more persons occupying a premises and living as a single housekeeping 

unit. 
 
Floodway - the channel of a river or other watercourse and adjacent land areas that 

must be reserved in order to discharge the 100-year flood without cumulatively 
increasing the water surface elevation by more than one foot in height. 

 
Floor area - the sum of the horizontal areas of the floor(s) of a structure enclosed by 

exterior walls, plus the horizontal area of any unenclosed portions of a structure 
such as porches and decks. 

 
Forest management activities - timber cruising and other forest resource evaluation 

activities, pesticide or fertilizer application, management planning activities, timber 
stand improvement, pruning, regeneration of forest stands, and other similar or 
associated activities, exclusive of timber harvesting and the construction, creation or 
maintenance of roads. 

 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 52 

 

 
 

Forest Stand - a contiguous group of trees sufficiently uniform in age class distribution, 
composition, and structure, and growing on a site of sufficiently uniform quality, to 
be a distinguishable unit. 

 
Forested wetland - a freshwater wetland dominated by woody vegetation that is six (6) 

meters tall (approximately twenty (20) feet) or taller. 
 
Foundation - the supporting substructure of a building or other structure, excluding 

wooden sills and post supports, but including basements, slabs, frostwalls, or other 
base consisting of concrete, block, brick or similar material. 

 
Freshwater wetland - freshwater swamps, marshes, bogs and similar areas, other than 

forested wetlands; which are: 
 
 1. Of ten or more contiguous acres; or of less than 10 contiguous acres and 

adjacent to a surface water body, excluding any river, stream or brook, such 
that in a natural state, the combined surface area is in excess of 10 acres; and 

 
 2. Inundated or saturated by surface or ground water at a frequency and for a 

duration sufficient to support, and which under normal circumstances do 
support, a prevalence of wetland vegetation typically adapted for life in 
saturated soils; but 

 
 Freshwater wetlands may contain small stream channels or inclusions of land that 

do not conform to the criteria of this definition.  
 
 “Freshwater wetland” does not include areas legally constructed and maintained by 

human activity. 
 
Functionally water-dependent uses - those uses that require, for their primary purpose, 

location on submerged lands or that require direct access to, or location in, waters 
and that can not be located away from these waters. The uses include, but are not 
limited to commercial and recreational fishing and boating facilities (excluding 
recreational boat storage buildings), finfish and shellfish processing, fish storage and 
retail and wholesale fish marketing facilities, waterfront dock and port facilities, 
shipyards and boat building facilities, marinas, navigation aids, basins and channels, 
retaining walls, industrial uses dependent upon water-borne transportation or 
requiring large volumes of cooling or processing water that can not reasonably be 
located or operated at an inland site, and uses that primarily provide general public 
access to waters. 

 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 53 

 

 
 

Great pond - any inland body of water which in a natural state has a surface area in 
excess of ten acres, and any inland body of water artificially formed or increased 
which has a surface area in excess of thirty (30) acres; except for the purposes of this 
Ordinance, where the artificially formed or increased inland body of water is 
completely surrounded by land held by a single owner. 

 
Ground cover – small plants, fallen leaves, needles and twigs, and the partially decayed 

organic matter of the forest floor. 
 
Harvest Area - the area where timber harvesting and related activities, including the 
cutting of trees, skidding, yarding, and associated road construction take place. The 
area affected by a harvest encompasses the area within the outer boundaries of these 
activities, excepting unharvested areas greater than 10 acres within the area affected by 
a harvest. 
 
Height of a structure - the vertical distance between the mean original (prior to 

construction) grade at the downhill side of the structure and the highest point of the 
structure, excluding chimneys, steeples, antennas, and similar appurtenances that 
have no floor area. 

 
Home occupation – is an special exception; an occupation or profession which is 

customarily conducted on or in a residential structure or property and which is 1) 
clearly incidental to and compatible with the residential use of the property and 
surrounding residential uses, and 2) which employs no more than two (2) persons 
other than family members residing in the home. 

 
Increase in nonconformity of a structure - any change in a structure or property which 

causes further deviation from the dimensional standard(s) creating the 
nonconformity such as, but not limited to, reduction in water body, tributary stream 
or wetland setback distance, increase in lot coverage, or increase in height of a 
structure. Property changes or structure expansions which either meet the 
dimensional standard or which cause no further increase in the linear extent of 
nonconformance of the existing structure shall not be considered to increase 
nonconformity. For example, there is no increase in nonconformity with the setback 
requirement for water bodies, wetlands, or tributary streams if the expansion 
extends no further into the required setback area than does any portion of the 
existing nonconforming structure. Hence, a structure may be expanded laterally 
provided that the expansion extends no closer to the water body, tributary stream, 
or wetland than the closest portion of the existing structure from that water body, 
tributary stream, or wetland. Included in this allowance are expansions which in-fill 
irregularly shaped structures. 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 54 

 

 
 

Individual private campsite - an area of land which is not associated with a 
campground, but which is developed for repeated camping by only one group not 
to exceed ten (10) individuals and which involves site improvements which may 
include but not be limited to a gravel pad, parking area, fire place, or tent platform. 

 
Industrial - The assembling, fabrication, finishing, manufacturing, packaging or 

processing of goods, or the extraction of minerals. 
 
Institutional – a non-profit or quasi-public use, or institution such as a church, library, 

public or private school, hospital, or municipally owned or operated building, 
structure or land used for public purposes. 

 
Land Management Road - a route or track consisting of a bed of exposed mineral soil, 

gravel, or other surfacing materials constructed for, or created by, the passage of 
motorized vehicles and used primarily for timber harvesting and related activities, 
including associated log yards, but not including skid trails or skid roads. 
 

Licensed Forester - a forester licensed under 32 M.R.S.A. Chapter 76. 
 
Lot area - The area of land enclosed within the boundary lines of a lot, minus land 

below the normal high-water line of a water body or upland edge of a wetland and 
areas beneath roads serving more than two lots. 

 
Marina - a business establishment having frontage on navigable water and, as its 

principal use, providing for hire offshore moorings or docking facilities for boats, 
and which may also provide accessory services such as boat and related sales, boat 
repair and construction, indoor and outdoor storage of boats and marine equipment, 
bait and tackle shops and marine fuel service facilities. 

 
Market value - the estimated price a property will bring in the open market and under 

prevailing market conditions in a sale between a willing seller and a willing buyer, 
both conversant with the property and with prevailing general price levels. 

 
Mineral exploration - hand sampling, test boring, or other methods of determining the 

nature or extent of mineral resources which create minimal disturbance to the land 
and which include reasonable measures to restore the land to its original condition. 

 
Mineral extraction - any operation within any twelve (12) month period which removes 

more than one hundred (100) cubic yards of soil, topsoil, loam, sand, gravel, clay, 
rock, peat, or other like material from its natural location and to transport the 
product removed, away from the extraction site. 

 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 55 

 

 
 

Minimum lot width - the closest distance between the side lot lines of a lot. When only 
two lot lines extend into the shoreland area, both lot lines shall be considered to be 
side lot lines. 
 

Multi-unit residential - a residential structure containing three (3) or more residential 
dwelling units. 

 
Native – indigenous to the local forests. 
 
Non-conforming condition – non-conforming lot, structure or use which is allowed 

solely because it was in lawful existence at the time this Ordinance or subsequent 
amendment took effect. 

 
Non-conforming lot - a single lot of record which, at the effective date of adoption or 

amendment of this Ordinance, does not meet the area, frontage, or width 
requirements of the district in which it is located. 

 
Non-conforming structure - a structure which does not meet any one or more of the 

following dimensional requirements; setback, height, or lot coverage, but which is 
allowed solely because it was in lawful existence at the time this Ordinance or 
subsequent amendments took effect. 

 
Non-conforming use - use of buildings, structures, premises, land or parts thereof 

which is not allowed in the district in which it is situated, but which is allowed to 
remain solely because it was in lawful existence at the time this Ordinance or 
subsequent amendments took effect. 

 
Normal high-water line  - that line which is apparent from visible markings, changes in 

the character of soils due to prolonged action of the water or changes in vegetation, 
and which distinguishes between predominantly aquatic and predominantly 
terrestrial land. Areas contiguous with rivers and great ponds that support non-
forested wetland vegetation and hydric soils and that are at the same or lower 
elevation as the water level of the river or great pond during the period of normal 
high-water are considered part of the river or great pond. 

 
Person - an individual, corporation, governmental agency, municipality, trust, estate, 

partnership, association, two or more individuals having a joint or common interest, 
or other legal entity. 

 
Piers, docks, wharves, bridges and other structures and uses extending over or below 

the normal high-water line or within a wetland. 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 56 

 

 
 

Temporary: Structures which remain in or over the water for less than seven (7) 
months in any period of twelve (12) consecutive months. 

 

Permanent: Structures which remain in or over the water for seven (7) months or more 
in any period of twelve (12) consecutive months. 

 

Principal structure - a building other than one which is used for purposes wholly 
incidental or accessory to the use of another building or use on the same premises. 

 

Principal use - a use other than one which is wholly incidental or accessory to another 
use on the same premises. 

 

Public facility - any facility, including, but not limited to, buildings, property, 
recreation areas, and roads, which are owned, leased, or otherwise operated, or 
funded by a governmental body or public entity. 

 

Recent floodplain soils - the following soil series as described and identified by the 
National Cooperative Soil Survey: 

 

 Fryeburg  Hadley  Limerick 
 Lovewell  Medomak  Ondawa 
 Alluvial  Cornish  Charles 
 Podunk  Rumney  Saco 
 Suncook  Sunday  Winooski 
 

Recreational facility - a place designed and equipped for the conduct of sports, leisure 
time activities, and other customary and usual recreational activities, excluding boat 
launching facilities. 

 

Recreational vehicle - a vehicle or an attachment to a vehicle designed to be towed, and 
designed for temporary sleeping or living quarters for one or more persons, and 
which may include a pick-up camper, travel trailer, tent trailer, camp trailer, and 
motor home. In order to be considered as a vehicle and not as a structure, the unit 
must remain with its tires on the ground, and must be registered with the State 
Division of Motor Vehicles. 

 

Replacement system - a system intended to replace: 1.) an existing system which is 
either malfunctioning or being upgraded with no significant change of design flow 
or use of the structure, or 2.) any existing overboard wastewater discharge. 

 

Residential dwelling unit - a room or group of rooms designed and equipped 
exclusively for use as permanent, seasonal, or temporary living quarters for only one 
family at a time, and containing cooking, sleeping and toilet facilities. The term shall 
include mobile homes and rental units that contain cooking, sleeping, and toilet 
facilities regardless of the time-period rented. Recreational vehicles are not 
residential dwelling units. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 57 

 

 
 

Riprap - rocks, irregularly shaped, and at least six (6) inches in diameter, used for 
erosion control and soil stabilization, typically used on ground slopes of two (2) 
units horizontal to one (1) unit vertical or less. 

 
Residual basal area - the average of the basal area of trees remaining on a harvested 

site. 
 
Residual Stand - a stand of trees remaining in the forest following timber harvesting 

and related activities. 
 
River - a free-flowing body of water including its associated floodplain wetlands from 

that point at which it provides drainage for a watershed of twenty five (25) square 
miles to its mouth. 

 
Road - a route or track consisting of a bed of exposed mineral soil, gravel, asphalt, or 

other surfacing material constructed for or created by the repeated passage of 
motorized vehicles, excluding a driveway as defined. 

 
Service drop - any utility line extension which does not cross or run beneath any 

portion of a water body provided that: 
 

1. in the case of electric service 
 
a. the placement of wires and/or the installation of utility poles is located 

entirely upon the premises of the customer requesting service or upon a 
roadway right-of-way; and 

b. the total length of the extension is less than one thousand (1,000) feet. 
 

2. in the case of telephone service 
a. the extension, regardless of length, will be made by the installation of 

telephone wires to existing utility poles, or 
b. the extension requiring the installation of new utility poles or placement 

underground is less than one thousand (1,000) feet in length. 
 
Setback - the nearest horizontal distance from the normal high-water line of a water 

body or tributary stream, or upland edge of a wetland, to the nearest part of a 
structure, road, parking space or other regulated object or area. 

 
Shore frontage - the length of a lot bordering on a water body or wetland measured in 

a straight line between the intersections of the lot lines with the shoreline. 
 
 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 58 

 

 
 

Shoreland area - land areas located within 250 feet, horizontal distance, of the normal 
high-water line of any great pond; within 250 feet, horizontal distance, of the normal 
high-water line of river; within 250 feet, horizontal distance, of the upland edge of a 
freshwater wetland rated moderate or high value by the Department of Inland 
Fisheries and Wildlife; within 75 feet, horizontal distance, of the upland edge of a 
freshwater wetland not rated moderate or high value by the Department of Inland 
Fisheries and Wildlife; and within 75 feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high-
water line of a stream. 

 
Shoreline – the normal high-water line, or upland edge of a freshwater wetland. 
 
Skid Road or Skid Trail - a route repeatedly used by forwarding machinery or animal 

to haul or drag forest products from the stump to the yard or landing, the 
construction of which requires minimal excavation. 
 

Slash - the residue, e.g., treetops and branches, left on the ground after a timber 
harvest. 

 
Stream – a free-flowing body of water from the outlet of a freshwater wetland, a free-

flowing body of water from the outlet of a great pond, or a free-flowing body of 
water from the confluence of two perennial streams, as depicted on the most recent 
edition of a United States Geological Survey 7.5 minute series topographic map, or if 
not available, a 15-minute series topographic map, to the point where the body of 
water becomes a river or flows into the shoreland area of another water body or 
wetland.  

 
“Stream” does not include:  

 grassy swales without defined banks and lacking the presence of a bed  

 rills, gullies, ditches or drainageways legally created by human activity 
 

NOTE: Freshwater wetlands as defined may have inclusions meeting the 
definition of stream, where it would be considered part of the wetland. 
Inlets and outlets within the shoreland area of a great pond, river or 
wetland are considered to be tributary streams as defined. 

 
Structure - anything built for the support, shelter or enclosure of persons, animals, 

goods or property of any kind, together with anything constructed or erected with a 
fixed location on or in the ground, exclusive of fences, and poles, wiring and other 
aerial equipment normally associated with service drops as well as guying and guy 
anchors. The term includes structures temporarily or permanently located, such as 
decks, patios, and satellite dishes. 

 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 59 

 

 
 

Substantial start - completion of thirty (30) percent of a permitted structure or use 
measured as a percentage of estimated total cost. 

 
Subsurface sewage disposal system – any system designed to dispose of waste or 

waste water on or beneath the surface of the earth; includes, but is not limited to: 
septic tanks; disposal fields; grandfathered cesspools; holding tanks; pretreatment 
filter, piping, or any other fixture, mechanism, or apparatus used for those purposes; 
does not include any discharge system licensed under 38 M.R.S.A. section 414, any 
surface waste water disposal system, or any municipal or quasi-municipal sewer or 
waste water treatment system. 

 
Sustained slope - a change in elevation where the referenced percent grade is 

substantially maintained or exceeded throughout the measured area. 
 
Timber harvesting - the cutting and removal of timber for the primary purpose of 

selling or processing forest products. The cutting or removal of trees in the 
shoreland area on a lot that has less than two (2) acres within the shoreland area 
shall not be considered timber harvesting. Such cutting or removal of trees shall be 
regulated pursuant to Section 15 (P), Clearing or Removal of Vegetation for Activities 
Other Than Timber Harvesting. 

 
Timber harvesting and related activities - timber harvesting, the construction and 

maintenance of roads used primarily for timber harvesting and other activities 
conducted to facilitate timber harvesting. 

 
Tributary stream – means a channel between defined banks created by the action of 

surface water, which is characterized by the lack of terrestrial vegetation or by the 
presence of a bed, devoid of topsoil, containing waterborne deposits or exposed soil, 
parent material or bedrock; and which is connected hydrologically with other water 
bodies. This term only applies to that portion of the tributary stream located within 
the shoreland area of the receiving water body or wetland. 

 
“Tributary stream” does not include: 

 grassy swales without defined banks and lacking the presence of a bed as 
described above 

 rills or gullies forming because of accelerated erosion in disturbed soils where 
the natural vegetation cover has been removed by human activity 

 ditches and draingeways, which are legally constructed and maintained soley 
for the purpose of draining stormwater 

 the term "stream" as defined elsewhere in this Ordinance  
 

NOTE: Water setback requirements apply to tributary streams within the 
shoreland area. 



Shoreland Zoning Ordinance 
Page 60 

 

 
 

 
Upland edge of a wetland - the boundary between upland and wetland. For purposes 

of a freshwater wetland, the upland edge is formed where the soils are not saturated 
for a duration sufficient to support wetland vegetation; or where the soils support 
the growth of wetland vegetation, but such vegetation is dominated by woody 
stems that are six (6) meters (approximately twenty (20) feet) tall or taller. 

 
Vegetation - all live trees, shrubs, and other plants including without limitation, trees 

both over and under 4 inches in diameter, measured at 4 1/2 feet above ground 
level. 

 
Volume of a structure - the volume of all portions of a structure enclosed by roof and 

fixed exterior walls as measured from the exterior faces of these walls and roof. 
 
Water body - any great pond, river or stream. 
 
Water crossing - any project extending from one bank to the opposite bank of a river, 

stream, tributary stream, or wetland whether under, through, or over the water or 
wetland. Such projects include but may not be limited to roads, fords, bridges, 
culverts, water lines, sewer lines, and cables as well as maintenance work on these 
crossings. This definition includes crossings for timber harvesting equipment and 
related activities. 

 
Wetland - a freshwater wetland. 
 
Windfirm - the ability of a forest stand to withstand strong winds and resist 

windthrow, wind rocking, and major breakage. 
 
Woody Vegetation - live trees or woody, non-herbaceous shrubs. 
 
 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
CITY OF PRESQUE ISLE 

LEGAL NOTICE 
 
Notice is hereby given that the Presque Isle City Council will hold a PUBLIC 

HEARING on Monday, April 7, 2014 at 6 PM to consider adopting Chapter 16A – 
Shoreland Zoning.  The hearing will be held in the City Council Chambers, City 
Hall, 12 Second Street, Presque Isle. 
 

The public is invited to attend the public hearing or submit written comments.  
The purpose of the public hearing is to receive citizen comments. 
 

Copies of the proposed ordinance are available Monday – Friday 8:00 AM to 4:30 
PM at the Planning and Development Department on the 3rd floor of City Hall at 
12 Second Street, Presque Isle.  You can also obtain more information from 
Planning Director Kenneth Arndt by e-mail at karndt@presqueisleme.us and by 
telephone at (207) 760-27527. 
 

Per Order of City Council 
Beverly A. Labbe 
City Clerk 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  81    
SUBJECT:  
 

SINGLE PUBLIC HEARING – Special Permit for Music, Dancing and 

Entertainment for Wintergreen Arts Center, with a location of 149 

State Street 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Application 

 Public Hearing Notice 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to approve a Special Permit for Music, Dancing and 

Entertainment for Wintergreen Arts Center, with a location of 149 

State Street. 

 





NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
CITY OF PRESQUE ISLE 

LEGAL NOTICE 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City of Presque Isle will hold a PUBLIC HEARING on 
Monday, April 7, 2014 at 6:00 P.M. to consider an application for  
 

Special Permit for Music, Dancing and Entertainment 
 

for Wintergreen Arts Center, 149 State Street, Presque Isle.  The hearing will be held in the 
City Council Chambers, City Hall, 12 Second Street, Presque Isle.  
 

The public may attend the public hearing or submit written comments.  You can obtain 
more information by contacting the City Clerk’s Office at City Hall, 12 Second Street, 
Presque Isle, ME 04769 or by calling 760-2720. 
 

Per Order of 
Beverly A. Labbe 
City Clerk 

 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  82    
SUBJECT:  
 

SINGLE PUBLIC HEARING – Special Permit for Music, Dancing and 

Entertainment for Hayward-Frazier VFW Post #2599, with a 

location of 6 State Road 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Application 

 Public Hearing Notice 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to approve a Special Permit for Music, Dancing and 

Entertainment for Hayward-Frazier VFW Post #2599, with a 

location of 6 State Road. 

 





NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
CITY OF PRESQUE ISLE 

LEGAL NOTICE 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City of Presque Isle will hold a PUBLIC HEARING 
on Monday, April 7, 2014 at 6:00 P.M. to consider an application for  
 

Special Amusement Permit for Music, Dancing and Entertainment 
 

for Hayward Frazier VFW Post #2599, 6 State Road, Presque Isle.  The hearing will be held 
in the City Council Chambers, City Hall, 12 Second Street, Presque Isle.  
 
The public may attend the public hearing or submit written comments.  You can obtain 
more information by contacting the City Clerk’s Office at City Hall, 12 Second Street, 
Presque Isle, ME 04769 or by calling 760-2720. 
 
Per Order of 
Beverly A. Labbe 
City Clerk 

 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  83    
SUBJECT:  
 

SINGLE PUBLIC HEARING – Solicit comments regarding a two year 

bid for Essential Air Service (EAS) from Peninsula Airways Inc 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

  

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

 

 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
CITY OF PRESQUE ISLE 

LEGAL NOTICE 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City of Presque Isle will hold a PUBLIC JEARING on 
Monday, April 7, 2014 at 6:00 PM in the City Council Chambers, City Hall at 12 Second 
Street, to solicit  comments on  a two year bid for Essential Air Service from Peninsula 
Airways, Inc.   
 

The public may attend the public hearing or submit written comments.  You can obtain 
more information by contacting the City Clerk’s Office at City Hall, 12 Second Street, 
Presque Isle, ME 04769 or by calling 760-2720. 
 

Per Order of 
Beverly A. Labbe 
City Clerk 

 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  84    
SUBJECT:  
 

CONSENT AGENDA – Minutes 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Minutes of February 13, 2014 

 Minutes of March 3, 2014 

 Minutes of March 17, 2014 

 Minutes of March 24, 2014 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to approve the regular City Council minutes from February 13, 

2014, March 3, 2014, March 17, 2014 and March 24, 2014. 

 

 



 

 

Presque Isle City Council Meeting  
 

         Thursday, February 13, 2014  
5:15 PM  

Governor’s Restaurant 
 

Call to Order – Roll Call 
 
Present: Chairperson Emily Smith, Vice-Chairman Randy Smith, Councilors Mike 
Chasse, Richard Engels, Craig Green and Peter Hallowell 
 
City Manager James A Bennett, Deputy City Manager Martin Puckett and Beverly A 
Labbe were also present. 
 
Chairperson Emily Smith called the meeting to order at 5:15 PM. 

 
New Business 

 

14-57 Goal Setting process 

 
City Manager Bennett started by providing Councilors with a list of suggested 
goals. The list was compiled by department heads, city manager and councilors.  
As a reference point, Bennett recapped the changes that have occurred in the 
City over the past four years.   
 
Bennett stated each item will be reviewed and discussed, and then Councilors 
will be able to rank their priorities.  Each Councilor will receive a “super” dot, 
which can be placed by a particular item.  Once the goals have been rated, they 
will be developed into a work plan which will be presented at the March 3, 2014 
meeting for adoption. 
 
Items discussed were: 
(1) Upgrade broadcast capabilities 
(2) Realtors summit 
(3) Improve overall wellness opportunities for employees 
(4) Continue with joint work with Caribou and others 
(5) Finish the library enhancement project 
(6) Review existing grant writing capabilities 
(7) Funding for farmers market structure 
(8) Downtown infrastructure improvements 
(9) Right of way visibility 
(10) Form based Zoning applied to other districts 
(11) Fort Fairfield (Rt 167) Road rezoning, as a result of Phase 1I of the By-Pass 



Page 2 of 3 

 

 

(12) Zone descriptions to encourage appropriate “permitted uses” language 
expansion 

(13) Continue work on Site location and reviews of proposed development to 
expedite within established procedures 

(14) Non-conforming Use language change 
(15) Comprehensive Plan Review and updating 
(16) Complete electrical work for full utilization of emergency generator at 

Presque Isle Public Works Department 
(17) Continue aggressive ditching program 
(18) Secure agreement with MDOT regarding north Main Street sidewalk 
(19) Install new solar pedestrian warning lights on U.R. Route 1 neat UMPI 
(20) Plan construction of Carmichael Street sidewalk with TIF funds 
(21) Pursue acquisition of military surplus equipment 
(22) Submit application to DEP for reimbursement of funds used to close 

portions of Phase 1 at the landfill in 2007-2008 
(23) Complete final closure of remaining portions of Phase 1 at the Landfill 

using design/build team 
(24) Ensure smooth transition at Recycling center for sorting due to impending 

discontinuance of Work Opportunities Center labor force 
(25) Complete decisions on energy conversion for City owned buildings 
(26) Determine direction for city Hall 
(27) Increase the fire department call company membership 
(28) Increase eligible per-diem roster 
(29) EMS integration 
(30) Fire Prevention 
(31) Civilian police academy 
(32) Evaluate police supervision levels 
(33) Evaluate changing prison handling 
(34) Implement electronic PI system 
(35) Develop realistic calendar for decisions on Haskell Center and/or 

community center 
(36) Review the impact of incorporating municipal offices in Community 

Center project 
(37) Downtown storefront beautification 
(38) Consider privatizing forum operations 
(39) Complete internal controls review and implementation 
(40) Evaluate tax assessing in the city 

 
After a great deal of discussion, Bennett stated he would take the information 
gathered at tonight’s meeting and develop a 2014 Work Plan that will be 
presented for adoption at the March 3, 2014 meeting. 
 



Page 3 of 3 

 

 

Steve and Lucy Richard, co-chairs of the Community Center Fundraising 
Committee and Scott Norton made a brief presentation regarding their fund 
raising efforts.  Steve Richard stated the closing of both the outdoor and indoor 
pools have made fundraising for the project more challenging.  Another 
difficulty the committee has encountered is the proposed community center 
does not have any final drawings that can be presented to potential donors.  
Richard thanked the City for allowing employees to assist with fund raising 
efforts, but admits they need more help. 
 
City Manager Bennett stated that to date $440,000 of the $3.5M has been raised. 

 
Adjournment 

 
BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Chasse, seconded by Councilor Green to adjourn the 
meeting at 7:16 PM.                Vote 6-0. 
 
 
 
 
Attested by:  __________________________ 
     Beverly A. Labbe, City Clerk 

 
 



 

 

Presque Isle City Council Meeting  
 

         Monday, March 3, 2014  
6:00 PM  

Presque Isle Council Chambers 
 

 
Call to Order – Roll Call 

 
Present: Chairperson Emily Smith, Vice-Chairman Randy Smith, Councilors Mike 
Chasse, Richard Engels, Craig Green and Bruce Sargent 
 
City Manager James A Bennett, Deputy City Manager Martin Puckett and Beverly A 
Labbe were also present. 
 

Pledge of Allegiance 
 

Chairperson Emily Smith called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM and led those present 
in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
Public Hearings 

 
14-58 Special Permit for Music, Dancing and Entertainment for Presque Isle Country 

Club, with a location of 35 Parkhurst Siding Road (Single Hearing) 
 

The public hearing portion of the meeting was opened at 6:00 PM.  Hearing no 
comments from the public, the public hearing portion of the meeting was closed 
at 6:00 PM.  
 
BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Green, seconded by Councilor Sargent to 
approve the Special Permit for Music, Dancing and Entertainment for Presque 
Isle Country Club, with a location of 35 Parkhurst Siding Road.    Vote 6-0. 
 

14-59 Malt, Spirituous and Vinous Liquor License for Presque Isle Country Club, 
with a location of 35 Parkhurst Siding Road (Single Hearing) 

 
The public hearing portion of the meeting was opened at 6:01 PM.  Hearing no 
comments from the public, the public hearing portion of the meeting was closed 
at 6:01 PM.  
 
BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Engels, seconded by Councilor Randy Smith to 
approve a Malt, Spirituous and Vinous Liquor License for Presque Isle Country 
Club, with a location of 35 Parkhurst Siding Road.       Vote 6-0. 



Page 2 of 8 

 

 

14-60 Amend Chapter 16 - Land Use and Development Code, Chapter 1, Section XXI 
– Light Industrial Zone (Single Hearing) 

 
The public hearing portion of the meeting was opened at 6:01 PM.   
 
Kenneth Arndt, Planning Director, addressed the Council regarding the 
amendment.  Arndt stated the Light Industrial Zone is located in the Industrial 
Park.  If the Council approves this amendment, businesses located in the Park 
would not need to receive approval from the Zoning Board of Appeals if they 
wished to open a retail or retail service establishment.  Arndt stated a few of the 
businesses located on the Park are service establishments and because of current 
regulations they are prohibited from expanding.  In addition to the new 
definitions being added to the Code, these amendments would allow businesses 
to sell ancillary goods. 
 
The public hearing portion of the meeting was closed at 6:05 PM.  
 
BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Chasse, seconded by Councilor Engels to adopt 
the expanded language and definitions to Chapter 16 – Land Use & 
Development Code to allow “retail and retail service establishments”, as a 
permitted use within the Light Industrial Zone.       Vote 6-0. 
 

14-61 Amend Chapter 50 – Advisory Board Ordinance (Single Hearing) 
 

The public hearing portion of the meeting was opened at 6:05 PM.  Hearing no 
comments from the public, the public hearing portion of the meeting was closed 
at 6:05 PM.  
 
BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Engels, seconded by Councilor Sargent to 
approve amendment to Chapter 50 – Advisory Board Ordinance as presented. 

    Vote 6-0. 
 

Public Hearing for Condemned Building 
 

14-62 20 Dragon Drive 
 

City Manager Bennett stated the Council will now be acting in the capacity of a 
quasi-judicial board.  Staff will present evidence and after the Council hears all 
testimony they will close the public hearing and deliberate on whether the 
structure is a danger.  If so deemed, the Council will issue an Order for removal 
of the structure. 
 



Page 3 of 8 

 

 

George Howe, Code Enforcement Officer for the City of Presque Isle, stated the 
owner is in agreement that the structure is unsafe and should be demolished.  
Howe stated the process began in 2012 with a garbage complaint.  The owner of 
the building was contacted and Howe was told the garbage would be removed 
by the owner’s son.  For a few months the son kept the property cleaned up, but 
the son stopped maintaining the property.  Howe stated he again contacted the 
owner who resides in New Jersey, and she agreed the property should be 
demolished.  Diane Ashford, owner of the property, has been duly served a 
notice of this evening’s hearing.  Howe drew the Councilors attention to the 
photographs and noted the house trailer is in bad shape.     
 
Councilor Engels asked Howe why he thought the trailer should be considered a 
dangerous building. 
 
Howe stated the photographs show windows are broken, floors are rotten, there 
is a lot of garbage inside the premises, floor tiles are missing and the roof has 
leaked for some time causing mold.  Howe stated upon inspection, he noted the 
floors were unsafe and the trailer frame has sunk into the ground making floor 
repairs nearly impossible. 
 
Fire Chief Darrell White stated in the event of a fire, unless there is someone 
inside, he has issued a standing order that there is to be no interior fire attack 
because the structure is unsafe.  
 
BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Engels, seconded by Councilor Sargent, based 
upon the evidence presented and the testimony of the Code Enforcement Officer 
concerning the condition of the premises owned by Diane Ashford and located at 
20 Dragon Drive, hereby moves: (1) that the Council adjudge this property to be 
a nuisance and dangerous to life or property; (2) that the Council make and 
record an Order stating that the owner shall, within (30) days of service of this 
Order, abate all conditions creating a nuisance or dangerous condition to the 
satisfaction of the Code Enforcement Officer; and (3) that should the owner fail to 
comply within the specified time, the owner shall be assessed a civil penalty of 
$10.00 per day and the City Council further directs the City Manager to cause the 
structure to be demolished and removed.  The cost of such demolition and 
removal shall be charged against the real estate upon which the structure sets 
and shall constitute a lien on such real estate.        Vote 6-0. 

 
Citizen Comments 

 
There were no citizen comments. 
 
 



Page 4 of 8 

 

 

Consent Agenda 
 

14-63 Approve City Council minutes for the regular meeting held on February 3, 
2014 and the workshop meeting minutes of January 27, 2014 and February 10, 
2014 

14-64 Approve 2014 Warrants #3 - #7, totaling $1,451,847.78 
14-65 Schedule a public hearing for April 7, 2014 to adopt a newly proposed Chapter 

16A – Shoreland Zoning  
14-66 Investment Report 
14-67 Resolution for membership and appointment of voting delegate representative 

and alternate for Maine Service Center Coalition 
14-68 National Recognition Service Day 
14-69 Utility Location Permit from EmeraMaine Plan #14-1003-03530-015 

 

Councilor Emily Smith asked a few questions regarding some of the brokered 
Certificate of Deposits (CD) on the Investment Report.  Pat Webb, Finance 
Director, stated the fluctuations were a result of movement from one bank to 
another, not a result of the stock market. 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Green, seconded by Councilor Randy Smith to 
approve the Consent Agenda as presented.         Vote 6-0. 

 

New Business 
 

14-70 Memorandum of Understanding in Manufacturing Communities Partnership 
Agreement 

 

Larry Clark, Executive Director of the Presque Isle Industrial Park, stated the 
purpose of this partnership is to strengthen and improve manufacturing in the 
United States. This process is competitive with only twelve communities 
designated as manufacturing communities.  Clark clarified that a community 
does not mean Presque Isle, but regional areas.  For example, Aroostook and 
Washington counties will be considered as one community.  The designation will 
be for two years, and during that time they will be eligible to receive grants from 
multiple federal programs.   
 

Clark stated there were certain criteria used to evaluate Northern Maine 
Development Corporation (NMDC) for eligibility such as workforce, 
infrastructure, training, capital access, etc.  The designation is in the forestry 
sector and gaps will need to be identified.  The deadline for application in the 
partnership is March 14, 2014, but Clark stated there will be an extension granted 
until April 14, 2014.  The grant application, for which NMDC is the lead 
applicant, will be reviewed by several federal agencies and a determination is 
anticipated within 60-90 days.   
   



Page 5 of 8 

 

 

City Manager Bennett stated that the Industrial Council has already agreed to 
enter the partnership and feels the City of Presque Isle should support the 
Memorandum Of Understanding.   
 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Emily Smith, seconded by Councilor Sargent to 
authorize the City Manager to sign the Memorandum of Understanding in 
Manufacturing Communities Partnership Agreement between Northern Maine 
Development Commission and the City of Presque Isle.      Vote 6-0. 
 

14-71 Adoption of 2014 Work plan 
 

City Manager Bennett stated the Council has received two documents related to 
this agenda item.  The first is the results of the goal setting meeting held on 
February 13, 2014, and the second is the 2014-2015 Work Plan. Bennett stated the 
items in the work plan have been prioritized, but completion dates are still 
needed.  Bennett noted if an item received a “super dot” but has not been 
assigned a priority rating, in the next 90 days the Council will receive 
information regarding that item.  If a majority of the Council wants to pursue 
that item, then it will be assigned a completion date. 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Randy Smith, seconded by Councilor Green to 
adopt the 2014-2015 Work Plan as presented.         Vote 6-0. 

  

14-72 Authorization to seek grant writer 
 

City Manager Bennett stated one of the items on the Work Plan that received a 
highest critical rating was for a grant writer.  Bennett suggested the City consider 
hiring a grant writer for one year as a contractual employee.  If the position 
proves lucrative, the City could then consider hiring a full-time grant writer.  
Bennett asked the Council for approval of this position along with approval to 
advertise for it. 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Engels, seconded by Councilor Green to 
approve a grant writing position as a contractual position for up to one year, and 
authorize the City Manager to advertise said position.      Vote 6-0. 

 

14-73 Resolution regarding State spending 
 

City Manager Bennett stated the Council has received other resolutions in the 
past that were more politically biased, and this is his first attempt at trying to 
develop a more factual resolution.  The resolution reminds the State of the 
promise it made and asks the State to consider reducing spending.  Bennett 
stated the Council has no obligation to approve the resolution and noted the 
current State budget is up by $200M, an increase since the last bi-annual budget. 



Page 6 of 8 

 

 

Councilors Green and Emily Smith stated the resolution has some great facts and 
suggested using the resolution as an editorial piece to educate the public instead.   
 
City Manager Bennett reminded Councilors that Augusta has a lot of turnover in 
offices and keeping the issue fresh in everyone’s mind may not be a bad thing. 
 
BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Green, seconded by Councilor Randy Smith to 
approve the resolution regarding State spending.       Vote 6-0. 
 

14-74 Community Center Design Funds Authorization 
 

City Manager Bennett stated that Mark Carter, architect for the Community 
Center, was asked to complete the schematic design for the new community 
center, which completed 10% of the project.  Because the City had not placed a 
definitive time frame for the next phase (design work), Carter has accepted new 
work and will not be available for a year. 
 
Bennett stated Carter has recommended Harriman Associates to complete the 
next phase of the project, and Carter has agreed to consult on a limited basis.   
 
BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Chasse, seconded by Councilor Randy Smith to 
authorize staff to proceed with securing the design up to the 35% level, negotiate 
with Harriman Associates and bring back the contract for Council approval 
before it is signed.               Vote 6-0. 
 

14-75 Presque Isle Police Department Citizen Academy 
 

Police Chief, Matt Irwin, stated the Police Department will be holding a citizen 
academy on Tuesday evenings from 6 PM to 9 PM starting March 18th – April 
20th.  The academy will cover topics such as criminal investigations, policies, 
canine tracking, etc.  At the end of the academy, citizens can ride with an officer.   
 
City Manager Bennett asked Chief Irwin to update the Council on the progress of 
the contest to redesign the police patches.  Chief Irwin stated the patch the police 
department currently has are dull, and in his opinion, not a great representation 
of the department.  The goal of the contest is to search for a badge that reflects 
Presque Isle.  People in the community have been asked to submit a drawing and 
the winner will receive a cash award of $300, which is coming from drug 
forfeiture funds.  Irwin stated some entries have already been received, but 
submittals will continue to be accepted until April 4, 2014.  Citizens will be able 
to judge the submittals which will be displayed at the art walk.   
 
 



Page 7 of 8 

 

 

14-76 Swim Lessons Funding 
 

Councilor Green asked for this item to be placed on the agenda because he 
initially thought the cost for swim lessons would be higher than what residents 
were paying at the indoor pool.  Since then, Green has learned swim lessons have 
not increased, so he would like to defer this item.   

 

14-77 Reapportionment for Education Representation 
 

City Manager Bennett stated that Councilor Sargent has expressed interest in 
having the size of the school board reduced.    
 

Martin Puckett, Deputy City Manager, stated he has searched state statutes and 
also consulted attorneys at Maine Municipal.  State statutes pertain more to 
redistricting when there is not adequate representation.  Puckett stated a request 
or petition can be made to the Education Commissioner. Once the Commissioner 
has been contacted, he would then contact the school district and determine 
whether or not the school has adequate representation.  The Commissioner 
would have 90 days to make his determination.  
 

City Manager Bennett stated that he is doubtful the Education Commissioner 
would determine the board was insufficient and feels the City’s best course of 
action would be to speak with the school directly. 
 

Councilor Sargent stated he has spoken with Lucy Richard, chair of the school 
board, and she has informed him that the school is in the process of hiring a new 
superintendant.  Sargent stated his objective is not to drive a wedge between the 
school and the City, so he would like to delay this item until a new 
superintendant has been selected.   
  

14-78 Indoor Pool divestment update 
 

City Manager Bennett stated staff has approached Northern Maine Fair 
Association and they have decided they are not interested in the pool. Bennett 
stated the next step would be to advertize both for demolition and Request For 
Proposals (RFP) for the purchase of the building.  Bennett stated a list of 
inventory from the building has been supplied to the Councilors.  If the City 
receives any RFPs, they will be brought back to the Council, and if the City does 
not, they should proceed with demolition.   
 

Chris Beaulieu, Rec & Parks Director, stated the first day of programs at UMPI 
started today.  The programs previously offered are still available, just a little 
less.  There are swim lessons offered in the morning, evening and some on 
Saturdays.  The cost for lessons has not changed, and all general swim is now at 
the college.   
 



Page 8 of 8 

 

 

Cheryl Bonville addressed the Council regarding the pool.  Bonville stated her 
father used the indoor pool frequently and expressed concern about the 
additional expense at UMPI and the increased difficulty getting into Gentile Hall.  
Bonville stated a person must purchase a membership pass that allows you 
access to the entire facility, but her father only wants to use the pool.   
 
Councilor Engels stated he has spoken with Dick Gardner and depending on the 
demand; UMPI may open the pool earlier and stated a yearly individual 
membership is $330.  Councilor Engels stated he has also spoken with UMPI 
asking if someone was able to use only the pool and not the rest of the facility.  
UMPI would have to completely revamp their system in order to allow an 
individual access to the pool only, and they are not willing to do that.   
 
Councilor Emily Smith stated another option is the Presque Isle Inn & 
Convention Center which is $30/month. 
 

Manager’s Report 
 

City Manager Bennett stated there will be a joint meeting with the Planning Board on 
March 13, 2014 at 7 PM. 
 
The Community Fund Raising Committee is partnering with the Kiwanis Club on 
March 14th and March 15th with a Vegas Fever fundraiser. 
 
Bennett thanked anyone who contacted their representative, because $40M has been 
restored to revenue sharing.  The latest edition of the Maine Municipal Association’s 
newsletter featured the Presque Isle representatives. 

 
Announcements 

 
Councilor Emily Smith read several announcements. 

 
Adjournment 

 
BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Randy Smith, seconded by Councilor Sargent to 
adjourn the meeting at 7:29 PM.             Vote 6-0. 
 
 
 
 
 
Attested by:  ____________________________ 
     Beverly A. Labbe, City Clerk 



Presque Isle City Council Meeting  
 

 Monday, March 17, 2014 
5:15 PM 

Presque Isle Council Chambers 
 
 

Call to Order – Roll Call 
 
Present: Chairperson Emily Smith, Vice-Chairman Randy Smith, Councilors Mike 
Chasse, Richard Engels, Craig Green,Peter Hallowell, and Bruce Sargent 
 
City Manager James A Bennett, Deputy City Manager Martin Puckett and Deputy City 
Clerk Deborah Ouellettewere also present. 
 

Pledge of Allegiance 
 

Chairperson Emily Smith called the meeting to order at 5:15 PM and led those present 
in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
Executive Session 

 
BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Emily Smith, seconded by Councilor Randy Smith to 
enter into Executive Session at 5:18 PM pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405 (6) (D) to 
discuss labor negotiations.              Vote 7-0. 
 
Councilors came out of Executive Session at 5:43 PM with no action taken.    

 
New Business 

 

14-79 Approval of Teamsters Local 340 – Fire Contract 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Engels, seconded by Councilor Randy Smith  
to approve the Teamsters Local 340—Fire Contract as presented.   Vote 7-0. 

 
14-80 Discuss Essential Air Service Bid  

 
Northern Maine Regional Airport Director Scott Wardwell gave a brief 
presentation to Councilors about the Essential Air Service program and the 
proposal of Peninsula Airways, Inc. (PenAir) to provide essential air service at 
Presque Isle, Maine. 
 
 



March 17, 2014 
Page 2 

 

To provide background, Wardwell explained that over the past six months 
additional bids were sought from other airlines who could potentially have 
offered improved service to the area.  However, essential air service options 
were limited because three airlines backed out due to new federal regulations.  
Those regulations, which became effective on January 1, 2014, increase the 
amount of pilot rest time between flights, and also the number or flight hours 
co-pilots must have for regional carriers.   
 
Although responses are mixed, the new regulations increase operating costs 
and some airlines are opting to reduce air services. For example, United 
Airlines is parking a number of jets because there are not enough pilots 
available, and another major carrier is now at 64% of operations.  It is difficult 
for small operators such as NMRA in Presque Isle to compete in this 
environment.  Wardwell has been in touch with Olympia Snowe’s office about 
the disparate impact of the new federal regulations.  
 
Wardwell has submitted a letter to U.S. DOT requesting two options from 
Peninsula Air, Inc.--renewal of the existing service schedule and subsidy, and 
an expanded schedule which will cost an additional $470,000.  

   
Wardwell stated his opinion that U.S. DOT will not likely award the expanded 
schedule if left to its own devises.  They don’t do things for economic 
development concerns.  The EAS program needs to be reformed so that it 
includes proper incentives.  Councilor Engels expressed agreement and said he 
thinks the possibility of the expanded schedule being accepted is zero. 

 
Transitioning from the Colgan Air, Inc. schedule has resulted in a downgrade 
of service and lost passengers at NMRA.  City Manager Jim Bennett said the 
airport has experienced about a 20% loss in ticket sales, in part because the 
current schedule makes it difficult to complete travel in one day.  Also, 
advertising has been too focused on the local market.  The customer loss would 
not have occurred if timely changes had been made in response to the situation.  
Scott Wardwell has been making this point for a couple years.  The expanded 
essential air schedule addresses these concerns.   
 
Councilors requested that City Manager Bennett write up a suggested letter to 
the U.S. DOT outlining arguments in support of the City’s request for an 
expanded schedule.   Bennett said there will be a 30 day period for public 
comment, and recommended that a public hearing be scheduled at the next 
City Council meeting on April 7, 2014.     
 
 



March 17, 2014 
Page 3 

 

Wardwell commended Pen-Air for doing a great job to support the 
youth/junior Biathalon competition by adding flights in and out for the 
increased air traffic.  Bennett said they have been very responsive and have 
done wonderful things whenever requested.  Councilor Engels said the City 
Council should offer official recognition for PenAir for their efforts, and he 
asked City Manager Bennett and Scott Wardwell to put something together for 
the next meeting. 
 
Councilor Green also wants to recognize individuals for their contribution to 
the Biathalon as well.  The volunteer group, food services, and others deserve 
special recognition for their efforts; he recommends that we talk to the 
organizing committee for referrals.   
 
Councilor Mike Chasse thanked the Kiwanis Club for their successful Vegas 
Fever event to raise fundsfor the new community center. 
 
Councilor Engels raised concerns about the icy conditions of Main Street 
sidewalks which make pedestrian traffic very difficult.  The merchants are 
supposed to be responsible for maintaining nearby walkways, but maybe the 
City should look at doing it completely.   
 
City Manager Bennett said he would put options on the agenda to address 
these concerns at the April 7, 2014 meeting.   
 

 
Adjournment 

 
BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor Green, seconded by Councilor Engels to adjourn the 
meeting at 6:12 PM.                Vote 7-0. 
 
 
 
 
Attested by:  _________________________________ 
     Deborah A. Ouellette, Deputy Clerk 

 
 



Presque Isle City Council Meeting  

 Monday, March 24, 2014 
5:15 PM 

Presque Isle Council Chambers 
 

Call to Order – Roll Call 

Present: Chairperson Emily Smith, Vice-Chairman Randy Smith, Councilors Mike Chasse, Richard Engels, 

Craig Green, and Peter Hallowell 

City Manager James A Bennett and Deputy City Manager Martin Puckett were also present. 

Chairperson Emily Smith called the meeting to order at 6:32 PM. 

Workshop 

Bennett discussed bypass and reviewed history of transportation plans and importance of created a plan 

especial involving state and federal funding 

Ken Arndt started the conversation by discussing the comprehensive plan.  The comp plan sought the 

bypass to be located as close to town as possible.  Ken gave an overview of the contents of the comp 

plan including the multimodal facility, airport, railroad, public transit and traditional vehicular traffic.  

Ken also talked about other successful initiatives including the bike path, pedestrian safety in the 

downtown, and grants. 

Roope discussed congestion in the downtown and the problem with moving traffic from east to west. 

Bennett discussed some staff initiatives including the 5 corners, Maysville and the intersection at the 

mall. 

The group discussed the importance of finding an alternative route for the large truck traffic. 

Bennett asked for input on what actions to have staff take. The staff will write a letter asking the state 

for planning money or implementation funds for 5 points, Maysville, and the mall.  Staff will look into 

past correspondence to ensure the requests are aligned with MDOT plans of past. Other Items 

presented were left hand turns onto the industrial park via Parson was a priority, corner of Brewer and 

the 5 corners.  

Engels asked about zoning on route 1 and the group reviewed the makeup of the road. 

Pat Cody inquired about the sidewalk on the northern section of Main st.  Bennett said the state plans 

on having the sidewalk constructed in 2016. 

Another topic discussed was the horse manure on the road way. 



Bennett discussed traffic calming designs including temporary speed bumps, police presence and speed 

tables. 

The cross walk light by the hotel was also discussed and the lack of brightness.  Engels brought up the 

issue of ice on the sidewalk.   

Another issue brought up was zoning issues around the bypass area. 

Adjournment 

Roope made a motion to adjourn, second by Randy Smith at 7:55.   

 

 

Attest:   _______________________________ 

 Martin Puckett, Deputy City Manager 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  85    
SUBJECT:  
 

CONSENT AGENDA – 2014 Warrants #8 - #12 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Warrant #8           $93,859.84 

 Warrant #9         $306,322.12 

 Warrant #10        $873,138.29 

 Warrant #11        $441,539.08 

 Warrant #12          $75,568.82 

                          $1,790,428.15 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to approve 2014 Warrants #8 - #12, totaling $1,790,428.15. 

 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  86    
SUBJECT:  
 

CONSENT AGENDA – Ballot and Elections Clerks 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Memo from Beverly A Labbe dated April 1, 2014 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is reqeusted 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to approve the list of ballot and election clerks.  

 



City of Presque Isle, Maine 
The Office of 

City Clerk 
Beverly A. Labbe 

Email:  blabbe@presqueisleme.us 
 

12 Second Street   Presque Isle, ME 04769-2459   Phone: 207.760.2720   Fax 207.764.2501  
 

This institution is an equal opportunity employer.   
To file a complaint, write to Martin Puckett, Deputy City Manager, 12 Second Street 

Presque Isle, ME  04769, or call (207) 760-2700. 

To: Most Honorable City Council 

From: Beverly A Labbe 

Date: 4/1/2014 

Re: Ballot and Election Clerks 

MSRA 21-A Elections § 503 Election Clerks states, 
“The municipal officers of each municipality shall appoint election clerks 
no later than May 1st of each general election year to serve at each voting 
place during the time the pools are open and as counters after the polls 
close”.   

 
MSRA 20-A §1304 Appointing Ballot Clerks also states that ballot clerks 
for school referendums need to be appointed.  
 
The qualifications of an election clerk are: (1) they much be at least 18 
years of age, (2) registered to vote and (3) residents of the municipality. 
 
These individuals have met the qualifications to be both ballot and 
election clerks, therefore I am recommending they be approved as such.  
 
Democrats 

Alice Bolstridge   Erica Harding 
Colleen Cochran   Mary Harding 
Gwen DeFelice   Eugene McLaughlin Jr 

 John DeFelice   Pamela Palm 
Barbara DeVaney   Greg Palm 

 Nancy Donovan   Anna Saucier 
Ward Gerow    Elaine Sipe 
Martha Grant   Janet Snow 
Brenda Hall    Rodney Thompson 

 Calvin Hall    William P Urban 
 Jackolyn Hancock   Carol Watson 
  
 



Republicans 
 Patricia Bates 

Marilyn Bouchard 
 Michael Bouchard 
 Rebecca Boucher 
 Jennifer Bridges 
 Sharon Madore 
 Elizabeth Michaud 
 Linda Murchison  

Robert Palm 
 Sharon Roix 
 Robert Roy  
 Tammy Scott 
 David Steele 
 
Unenrolled 
 Virginia Fischer 
 Henry Furtek 
 Gordon Michaud 
 Donald Savage 
 
  



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  87    
SUBJECT:  
 

CONSENT AGENDA – Resolution of appreciation to Peninsula 

Airways Inc 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Resolution 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

 



Proclamation 

 

WHEREAS, Pen Air played a critical role in servicing visitors for the 2014 World Champion Junior 
Biathlon event, and 

WHEREAS,  the City of Presque Isle has a significant interest in the continued vitality of Pen Air's 
service to the Northern Maine Regional Airport customers; and 

WHEREAS, the 2014 World Champion Junior Biathlon event is one of the largest events in the 
community, that draws thousands of people from all over the world, that promotes our community 
worldwide and adds to continued growth and commerce in the area; and 

WHEREAS, Pen Air provided timely flights and exceptional customer service to those visiting the 
area for the Biathlon event. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that we, the City Councilors of Presque Isle, do hereby proclaim 
our appreciation to Pen Air for the critical role they played in providing air service for the 2014 World 
Champion Junior Biathlon event.  

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 
Emily Smith, Council Chair    Randy Smith, Council Vice-Chair  
 

______________________________  ______________________________ 
Michael Chasse, Councilor    Richard Engels, Councilor  
 

______________________________  ______________________________ 
Craig Green, Councilor    Peter Hallowell, Councilor  
 

______________________________ 
Bruce Sargent, Councilor 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  88    
SUBJECT:  
 

CONSENT AGENDA – Resolution of appreciation to supporters 

and volunteers of the World Jr. Biathlon 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Resolution 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

 



Proclamation 

 

WHEREAS, numerous supporters and volunteers came together to make the 2014 World Champion 
Junior Biathlon a success; and 

WHEREAS,  service to others is a hallmark of the American character, and central to how we meet 
our challenges; and 

WHEREAS, our community are increasingly turning to volunteerism as a cost-effective strategy to 
meet community needs; and 

WHEREAS, events like the Biathlon expands economic opportunity by raising the world wide profile 
of Aroostook County, draws thousands of tourists to the area, and provides opportunities for education, 
career skills, and leadership abilities for those who serve; and  

WHEREAS, the Biathlon supporters and volunteers demonstrate commitment, dedication and 
patriotism by making an intensive commitment to service, a commitment that remains with them in 
their future endeavors; and 

WHEREAS, the supporters and volunteers share a priority with city management to engage citizens, 
improves lives, and strengthen communities; 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that we, the City Councilors of Presque Isle, do hereby proclaim 
our appreciation to the 2014 World Champion Junior Biathlon supporters and volunteers and 
encourage residents to recognize the positive impact of their service to our city; to thank those who 
serve; and to find ways to give back to their communities. 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 
Emily Smith, Council Chair    Randy Smith, Council Vice-Chair  
 

______________________________  ______________________________ 
Michael Chasse, Councilor    Richard Engels, Councilor  
 

______________________________  ______________________________ 
Craig Green, Councilor    Peter Hallowell, Councilor  
 

______________________________ 
Bruce Sargent, Councilor 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  89    
SUBJECT:  
 

CONSENT AGENDA – MDOT Construction Overlimit Permit 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Memo from Dana Fowler dated April 2, 2014 

 Letter and permit from MDOT dated March 7, 2014 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to approve the agreement with Maine Department of 

Transportation authorizing overlimit permits for construction in 

2014.  

 

































PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  90    
SUBJECT:  
 

CONSENT AGENDA – Abatement for Video Monitoring Services of 

America, LP 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Memo from Deb Ouellette dated April 1, 2014 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

that the City Council authorize an abatement of 2011 personal 

property taxes in the amount of $3,405 against Video Monitoring 

Services of America, LP.  

 















PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  91    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Revocation of Bou’s Brew Pub’s Special Permit 

for Music, Dancing and Entertainment as well as their Malt, 

Spirituous and Vinous Liquor License 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Memo from James Bennett dated April 1, 2014 

 Memo from Chief of Police Matthew Irwin dated April 1, 

2014 

 Notice of Public Hearing 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

  

 



































































































































NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
CITY OF PRESQUE ISLE 

LEGAL NOTICE 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City of Presque Isle will hold a PUBLIC JEARING on 
Monday, April 7, 2014 at 6:00 PM in the City Council Chambers, City Hall at 12 Second 
Street, to consider revocation of licenses for:  
 

Malt, Spirituous and Vinous Liquor License, and 
Special Permit for Music, Dancing and Entertainment 

 

for Bou’s Brew Pub, LLC d/b/a Bou’s Brew Pub, 431 Main Street, Presque Isle.   
 

The public may attend the public hearing or submit written comments.  You can obtain 
more information by contacting the City Clerk’s Office at City Hall, 12 Second Street, 
Presque Isle, ME 04769 or by calling 760-2720. 
 

Per Order of 
Beverly A. Labbe 
City Clerk 

 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  92    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Award Essential Air Service bid to Peninsula 

Airways, Inc 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Memo from Scott Wardwell dated April 2, 2014 

 Letter from Northern Maine Regional Airport to EAS dated 

April 4, 2014 

 Proposal by Peninsula Airways, Inc 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to direct the manager of the Northern Maine Regional Airport to 

send the attached letter to the United Stated Department of 

Transportation on behalf of the Presque Isle City Council. 

 





































PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  93    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Employment License for Lois Dickson d/b/a 

Tempo Employment Services 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Application 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to approve an Employment License to Lois Dickson d/b/a Tempo 

Employment.   

 





PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  94    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Pawnbroker License for Benjamin L LeBlanc 

d/b/a Ben’s Trading Post 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Application 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to approve a Pawnbroker License to Benjamin L LeBlanc d/b/a 

Ben’s Trading Post.   

 





PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  95    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Taxi Cab Service License for Lori Hodsdon d/b/a 

Town Taxi 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Application 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to approve a Taxi Cab Service License to Lori Hodsdon d/b/a 

Town Taxi.   

 



















PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  96    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Taxi Cab Service License for Marty Clayton d/b/a 

Aroostook Cab Company 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Application 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to approve a Taxi Cab Service License to Marty Clayton d/b/a 

Aroostook Cab Company.   

 



















PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  97    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Pool Room License for Xian Ping Cao d/b/a My 

Tai, Inc 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Application 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to approve a Pool Room License to Xian Ping Cao d/b/a My Tai, 

Inc.   

 





PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  98    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Bowling Alley License for Northern Lanes, Inc 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Application 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to approve a Bowling Alley License to Northern Lanes, Inc.   

 





PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  99    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Appointment to Presque Isle Housing Authority 

Board of Commissioners 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Application 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to appoint Marie E Faggiole to the Presque Isle Housing Authority 

Board of Commissioners.   

 





PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  100    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Appointment to Zoning Board of Appeals 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Application 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Passage is recommended 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to appoint Peter Charette to the Zoning Board of Appeals to fill 

the unexpired term of Hank King, term to expire December 31, 

2014.   

 





PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  101    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Land Transfer to City of 69 North Street and 59 

Elm Street 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Memo from Larry Clark dated April 2, 2014 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to accept title to 59 Elm Street and 69 North Street, by Quitclaim 

Deed, subject to City Attorney being able to issue Title Insurance 

for each, in return for relieving Pension Guaranty Corporation for 

the 2013 and 2014 real estate taxes. 

 







PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  102    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Authorize letter to MDOT regarding the State, 

Dyer, Parsons and Mechanic Streets intersection 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Letter from James Bennett to MDOT 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Support of the letter is requested 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to authorize the City Manager to send the letter to Maine 

Department of Transportation as drafted. 

 



City of Presque Isle, Maine 
 

12 Second Street            Presque Isle, ME 04769-2459            Phone: 207.760.2700               Fax 207.764.2501  
 

The City of Presque Isle is an equal opportunity provider. To file a complaint, write to  
Martin Puckett, Deputy City Manager, 12 Second Street Presque Isle, ME 04769, or call (207) 760-2700. 

The Office of 
City Manager 

James A. Bennett 
Email:  jbennett@presqueisleme.us 

 

 
April 8, 2014 
 
MDOT 
Attn: Robert Watson, Regional Director 
PO Box 1178 
Presque Isle, ME 04769 
 
RE:  Intersection of State, Dyer, Parsons, and Mechanic Streets 
 
Dear Mr. Watson, 
 
 The Presque Isle City Council and Planning Board met on March 24, 2014, to discuss 
transportation issues in the community.  This letter is written as a result of the direction of the two 
Boards and further, has been formally voted on by the City Council at their April 7 meeting.  A 
significant part of the discussion includes the traffic movements on and across Route 1 which serves as 
our Main St.  Not surprisingly, the impact of the long awaited construction of the first part of the by-
pass was part of the discussion.   
  
 It has been the vision and plan of the City for many years to positively impact the amount of 
truck traffic that moves through the downtown in an east to west and west to east fashion.  With the 
anticipated opening of the first section of the by-pass, the City intends to create a designated truck 
route for such traffic.  The intention is to create the route from Mechanic Street along Parsons Street to 
Fort Road.  Traffic will then use the constructed by-pass to the Conant Rd.  This route will reduce the 
amount of left turning moments that are currently required by trucks in our downtown area. 
 
 One of the potential bottlenecks that will make the proposed truck route more difficult is the so-
called five point intersection (State, Dyer, Parsons and Mechanic Streets).  Therefore, the City is 
officially requesting that Maine Department of Transportation included the necessary funds in the 
upcoming budget year to conduct the studies necessary to improve this intersection to more effectively 
handle the proposed truck route.  In addition, the City requests that the department include the funding 
necessary to improve the design of the intersection and fund those improvements.   
 
 The residents and business owners have waited for many decades for the promise of traffic relief 
in the downtown area via the construction of the by-pass.  Given the numerous delays on the by-pass 



 

project, the City is requesting that the department make this request a priority so further promised 
traffic relief in the downtown is not delayed. 
 
 Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions or concerns. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
James A. Bennett, 
City Manager 
 
cc:  Presque Isle City Council 
      Presque Isle Planning Board 
      Representative Alexandar Willette 
      Representative Robert Saucier 
      Senator Roger Sherman 
 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  103    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Authorize letter to MDOT regarding the 

intersection at Parsons and Main Streets and Fort Road 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Letter from James Bennett to MDOT 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Support of the letter is requested 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to authorize the City Manager to send the letter to Maine 

Department of Transportation as drafted. 

 



City of Presque Isle, Maine 
 

12 Second Street            Presque Isle, ME 04769-2459            Phone: 207.760.2700               Fax 207.764.2501  
 

The City of Presque Isle is an equal opportunity provider. To file a complaint, write to  
Martin Puckett, Deputy City Manager, 12 Second Street Presque Isle, ME 04769, or call (207) 760-2700. 

The Office of 
City Manager 

James A. Bennett 
Email:  jbennett@presqueisleme.us 

 

 
 
April 8, 2014 
 
MDOT 
Attn: Robert Watson, Regional Director 
PO Box 1178 
Presque Isle, ME 04769 
 
RE:  Intersection of Parsons Street, Main Street and Fort Road 
 
Dear Mr. Watson, 
 
 The Presque Isle City Council and Planning Board met on March 24, 2014, to discuss 
transportation issues in the community.  This letter is written as a result of the direction of the two 
Boards and further, has been formally voted on by the City Council at their April 7 meeting.  A 
significant part of the discussion includes the traffic movements on and across Route 1 which serves as 
our Main St.  Not surprisingly, the impact of the long awaited construction of the first part of the by-
pass was part of the discussion.   
  
 It has been the vision and plan of the City for many years to positively impact the amount of 
truck traffic that moves through the downtown in an east to west and west to east fashion.  With the 
anticipated opening of the first section of the by-pass, the City intends to create a designated truck 
route for such traffic.  The intention is to create the route from Mechanic Street along Parsons Street to 
Fort Road.  Traffic will then use the constructed by-pass to the Conant Rd.  This route will reduce the 
amount of left turning moments that are currently required by trucks in our downtown area.   
 
 One of the potential bottlenecks that will make the proposed truck route more difficult is the 
intersection of Parsons, Main and Fort Rd.  Therefore, the City is officially requesting that Maine 
Department of Transportation include the funds necessary in the upcoming budget year to make the 
improvements to this intersection to more effectively handle the proposed truck route.  A study done in 
April, 2011, indicated the improvements that were necessary.   
 
 The residents and business owners have waited many decades for the promise of traffic relief in 
the downtown area via the construction of the by-pass.  Given the numerous delays on the by-pass 



 

project, the City is requesting that the department make this request a priority so further promised 
traffic relief in the downtown is not delayed. 
 
 Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions or concerns. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
James A. Bennett, 
City Manager 
 
cc:  Presque Isle City Council 
      Presque Isle Planning Board 
      Representative Alexandar Willette 
      Representative Robert Saucier 
      Senator Roger Sherman 
 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  104    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Authorize the contract from Harriman Associates 

and the funding mechanism for the Community Center 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Memo from Chris Beaulieu dated April 3, 2014 

 Resolve regarding funding 

 Contract from Harriman dated April 2, 2014 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to authorize the City Manager to sign the contract from Harriman 

for architectural services as proposed and the funding 

mechanism to pay for the work. 

 

SEE SECOND PAGE REGARDING RESOLVES FOR FUNDING. 

 







                                           Presque Isle Recreation & Parks 
                              270 Main Street 

                              Presque Isle, ME 04769 
                             207-764-2545 

                                                                  www.pirec.org    
 

      
MEMORANDUM 

 
  

TO:  Honorable City Council 

FROM: Chris Beaulieu, Director of Recreation & Parks 

DATE: April 3, 2014 

RE:  Architectural Planning for Community Center Project 

         
   

 At the last City Council meeting, the Council was informed that Mark Carter would be unable to 
continue as lead architect of the Community Center Project. As a result, Mark recommended Harriman 
Associates to assume that role. You the Council then directed City Manager Jim Bennett and staff to 
work with Harriman in developing a strategy that would get this project to the 35% level. 

Jim and I have since met with staff from Harriman and believe their firm’s experience and 

resources will in fact make their firm an excellent choice moving forward. To get the project to the 35% 
level, City staff and Harriman have developed a plan. This plan would include the completion of 
schematic design and design development for the project. This essentially means the architectural 
planning would be completed just shy of construction documents. After which, the City can then initiate 
the next step in preparing construction documents and putting the project out to bid.  
 Staff and I are recommending the City enter into an agreement with Harriman for architectural 
services as detailed in the attached document provided.  
 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION:  

Be It Resolved by          seconded by                                  to 

authorize the City Manager to enter the City into an agreement with Harriman for architectural 

services as proposed.   

 
 
Attachment: Harriman Proposal 
 
 
cc:  James Bennett, City Manager  
      Beverly Labbe, City Clerk  
      Judy Dionne, Executive Assistant to the City Manager 
      Kevin Sipe, Recreation & Parks Advisory Board Chairman 



 

April 2, 2014 
 
 
 
Mr. James A. Bennett jbennett@presqueisleme.us 

City Manager 
City of Presque Isle    
12 Second Street 
Presque Isle, ME 04769 
 
Re: City of Presque Isle 
 Community Center 
 Presque Isle, ME 
 No. 14342 
 Proposal 
 
Dear Jim: 
 
It was a pleasure to meet with you, Chris Beaulieu, and Mark Carter to discuss the Presque Isle 
Community Center. We are very excited about the project and look forward to working with you and 
the City of Presque Isle. We understand that the drawings provided to us by Mark Carter are 
complete through schematic design and it is our goal to provide you with a smooth transition from 
North Peak Architecture to Harriman. To that end, Harriman suggests the following scope of work in 
order to develop the design to a 35% or Design Development level of documentation. 
 
SCOPE OF WORK 
Harriman proposes to provide full Design Development Services (35%) for the community center and 
sports field portions of the project. 
 
For the pool, splash pad and bath house we suggest that we begin with Schematic Design and work 
with you and our pool consultant to develop the program and functional requirements of the pool. 
Once that scope is established our services will continue through Design Development.  
 
Permitting is currently excluded from the scope of work until we have a more comprehensive 
understanding of the project goals and objectives. 
 
A summary of the scope of each phase is described below: 
 

Schematic Design Phase (pool only) 
Harriman and the pool consultant will work with the City of Presque Isle to determine the 
program requirements of the pool and to establish a construction budget as well as schedule 
for the pool, splash pad and bath house facility.  
 
A written program will be prepared for review and the architecture, engineering and pool 
design will be developed to reflect the design direction established from the program. 
 
 



 
 
  
  
 
Mr. James A. Bennett 
April 2, 2014 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 

Design Development Phase 
Floor plans, exterior and interior elevations, reflected ceiling plans, sections, finish and door 
schedules and typical details will be developed in this phase. Regular review meetings will be 
held with key staff members to gain approval of the design direction and to verify that all 
design concerns have been considered. Harriman will also provide an updated cost estimate to 
verify that the design is in alignment with the project budget. 

Building systems will be developed, including one-line drawings and outline specifications of 
the structural, plumbing, fire protection, mechanical, and electrical systems. Conversations 
with the Fire Chief and Code Enforcement Officer as well as the State Fire Marshal’s office will 
begin in this phase to allow their concerns to be incorporated.   

Work products in this phase will include: 
• Floor plans, building sections, finishes, doors, typical details 
• Exterior elevations and materials will be developed and finalized 
• Interior elevations and material will be developed 
• Millwork drawings will be developed 
• Diagrammatic plans of building engineering systems  
• Summary technical specifications 
• Cost estimate 

 
SCHEDULE 
Harriman is ready to begin work immediately and proposes to provide the scope of services 
described above as follows: 
 
Schematic Design (pool only)  May 1, 2014 
Design Development   September 1, 2014 
 
BUDGET 
Harriman will work with the City of Presque Isle to develop a comprehensive budget for the project 
with a scope that meets your cost expectations. 
 
FEE 
Harriman proposes to provide the services for a lump sum fee of $159,500 which will be allocated as 
indicated below: 
 

 Community Center and 
Site 

Sports Fields Pool, Splash Pad and 
Bath House 

Schematic Design   18,000 

Design Development 105,000 11,500 25,000 

    

Total Fee  105,000 11,500 43,000 

 



 
 
  
  
 
Mr. James A. Bennett 
April 2, 2014 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 
Should you wish to continue with the Construction Documents for the pool we propose to provide 
that service for a lump sum fee of $50,000. 
 
In addition to the fees described above we suggest that you carry approximately $2,000 for 
reimbursable expenses. 
 
Any services beyond those described above, and with prior authorization, will be invoiced at our 
attached standard hourly rates. If you find this proposal and the attached Terms and Conditions 
satisfactory and acceptable, please sign and return to my attention. 
 
Thank you very much for the opportunity to submit this proposal and we look forward to working 
with you and the City of Presque Isle on this very exciting project. If you have any questions please 
give me a call. 
 

Sincerely,   

Harriman  Accepted by: 

 

  
 

Judy L. Johnson, AIA, LEED AP BD+C  Mr. James A. Bennett, City of Presque Isle 

Principal, Architect   

jjohnson@harriman.com    

  Date 

 
raf 
 
Enclosures:  Hourly Rates 
  Terms and Conditions  
 



 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HOURLY RATES        2014 
 
 
Principal 

  
$165 

 
Sr. Manager  

  
$145 

 
Sr. Project Manager/Sr. Architect/ 
Sr. Engineer/Sr. Landscape Architect/ 
Sr. Interior Designer 

  
 
 

$130 
 
Architect/Engineer/Project Manager/ 
Interior Designer/Sr. Designer 

  
 

$105 
 
Designer/Construction Administrator/  
Estimator/Commissioning Agent/ 
Testing and Balancing Technician 

  
 
 

$90 
 
CADD Technician 

  
$75 

 
Support Staff 

  
$60 

 
 



  
 
 

 
 

 
 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS  

This agreement may be terminated by either party upon seven 
(7) days written notice in the event of substantial failure by the 
other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof. In the 
event of termination, Harriman shall be paid for services 
performed to the termination notice date, plus reasonable 
termination expenses.  
 
 MISCELLANEOUS  

Work performed by Harriman will be conducted in a manner 
consistent with the level of care and skill ordinarily exercised 
by members of the profession currently practicing under similar 
conditions.  No warranty, express or implied is made.  

INVOICES, TERMS, AND CHARGES  

Harriman will submit invoices to the client on a monthly basis.  
Billing will usually occur at the end of each month.  Payment on 
each invoice is due 30 days net from the posted date of 
invoice.  Failure to pay invoices within the allotted time will 
constitute a breach of contract and will result in suspension of 
work by Harriman until all overdue payments are made in full.  
A service fee of 1-1/2% of the overdue balance will be charged 
monthly on all accounts not paid within 30 days of the date of 
invoice. If a suit is filed, attorney’s fees, and other costs 
incurred in collecting any delinquent account, shall be paid by 
the client in any judgment in favor of Harriman.  

Charges for professional, technical, and administrative 
personnel are computed by multiplying the hours of labor by the 
latest personnel rates.  

Company and personal vehicles used in conjunction with 
project work in 2013 will be charged at $0.56.5 per mile. 
Vehicle rental or special vehicle requirements will be charged 
directly to the client.  Reimbursable project-related expenses 
are billed at cost +10%.  

CLAIMS FOR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES  

The architect and the owner waive consequential damages for 
claims, disputes or other matters in question arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement.  This mutual waiving is applicable, 
without limitations, to all consequential damages due to either 
party’s termination.  

OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS  

With the exception of the reports supplied to the client as a 
deliverable, all other documents prepared by Harriman shall 
remain the property of Harriman  as instruments of service.  The 
client agrees that all reports and other work furnished to the 
client or his agents, that is not paid for, will be returned upon 
demand and will not be used by the client for any purpose 
whatever.  

ELECTRONIC FILES  

In accepting and utilizing any drawings, reports and data on 
any form of electronic media generated and furnished by 
Harriman, the client agrees that all such electronic files are 
instruments of service of Harriman.  The client agrees not to 
reuse these electronic files, in whole or in part, for any purpose 
other than for the project.  The client further agrees to waive all 
claims against Harriman resulting in any way from any 
unauthorized changes to or reuse of the electronic files for any 
other project by anyone other than Harriman.  In no event will 
Harriman be liable for indirect or consequential damages as a 
result of the client’s use or reuse of the electronic files.  

THIRD PARTY EXCLUSION  

This agreement does not create any right or benefits for parties 
other than Harriman and the client.  

THIRD PARTY RELIANCE  

This agreement does not allow any party other than the client to 
rely on reports or other work furnished to the client without the 
express permission of Harriman.  

DISPUTES  

In the event that the client makes a claim or brings action 
against Harriman for any act arising out of the performance of 
Harriman work, and fails to prove such a claim or action, then 
the client will pay all legal and other costs incurred by Harriman  
in defense of such claim or action.  

INDEMNIFICATION  

In connection with the services performed by Harriman  and its 
officers, agents, and employees, the client agrees to indemnify 
and hold harmless Harriman, its officers, agents, and 
employees, against any and all claims, liability, injury, loss, or 
damage, and any expense arising therefrom, including loss or 
damage, and expense arising therefrom, including costs and 
attorney’s fees, except for those claims, injuries, and damages 
arising out of negligent or willful misconduct of Harriman  or its 
officers, agents and employees acting within the scope of their 
employment.  

LIMITATION OF LIABILITY  

The client agrees to limit Harriman liability to the client on the 
project arising from Harriman professional acts, errors, or 
omissions, such that the total aggregate liability of Harriman to all 
those named shall not exceed Harriman total fee for services 
rendered on the project.  

INSURANCE  

Harriman represents and warrants that it is protected by 
Workmen’s Compensation insurance.  Harriman shall not be 
responsible for any loss, damage, or liability arising from any 
acts by client, its agents, staff, and other consultants employed 
by it.  

TERMINATION  

This agreement shall be governed and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the States of Maine and New 
Hampshire.  



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  105    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Authorize demolition of indoor pool 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

  

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

Bids will be opened on Friday, April 4th.   

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

 

 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  106    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Building Committee for Community Center 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

  

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

 

 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 

  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.  107    
SUBJECT:  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Discuss winter sidewalk maintenance in the 

downtown 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

 Memo from James Bennett dated April 1, 2014 

 Chapter 24 – Sidewalk Snow Removal Ordinance 

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

 

 







 
 
 
 

CHAPTER 24 
 

CITY OF PRESQUE ISLE 
 
 

Sidewalk Snow Removal 
Ordinance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Adopted:  December 15, 1997 
Repassed:  March 19, 2001 
Repassed:  February 23, 2005 
Repassed:  February 2, 2009 
Repassed:  January 7, 2013 
 
 
Attest:  __________________________________    
  Beverly A. Labbe, City Clerk   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

City Seal 



2 Chapter 24 – Sidewalk Snow Removal Ordinance 

 

CHAPTER 24 
 

SIDEWALK SNOW REMOVAL ORDINANCE 
 

Section 1  Sidewalks/Walkways 
 
In the City of Presque Isle, the abutting owners, or tenants in control in the areas 
designated on the following named streets, alleyways, or walkways, shall within 
twelve (12) hours of daylight after the same shall cease to fall or be formed and 
with reasonable diligence at all other times, keep the sidewalks and/or 
walkways abutting their respective places cleared of snow and/or ice, so that 
such sidewalks and/or walkways may be safely used by pedestrian traffic: 
 
 Main Street – From north side of Howard Street to south side of Blake Street 
 
 State Street – From west side of Second Street to B & A Railroad crossing 

  
 West side of Second Street – From north side of State Street to south side of 

Church Street 
 
 South side of Hall Street 
 
 South side of Church Street – From Main Street to Second Street 
 
 North side of Academy Street – From Main Street to a point which is 120’ 

westerly from the westerly side of Second Street 
 
 Chapman Street – From Main Street to the first B & A Railroad crossing 
 
 The following alleyways, walkways, and/or sidewalks outlined on the 

attached map, denoted as “Exhibit A”  and made a part of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 2  Penalty 
 
Any abutting owner or tenant in control failing to comply with this Ordinance 
shall be subject to a fine of not less than thirty-five dollars ($35.00) nor more than 
one hundred dollars ($100.00) for each offense.  Said fine to enure to the benefit 
of the City. 
 
Section 3  Sunset Provision 
 
This Ordinance shall be in force for the term of four (4) years from its effective 
date.  This Ordinance shall become null and void upon the expiration of four (4) 
years from said effective date, unless recommended and required by the City 
Council to remain effective prior to such expiration date.  



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING OF April 7, 2014 
 
  AGENDA INFORMATION SHEET:               AGENDA ITEM NO.      

SUBJECT:  
 

EXECUTIVE SESSION – Pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405 (6) (C) to 

discuss a real estate matter  

 

INFORMATION: 

 
INCLUDED IS: 

  

APPROVAL AND/OR COMMENTS OF CITY MANAGER: 
 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  ES RS MC RE CG PH BS  

 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by Councilor _____, seconded by Councilor _____ 

to enter into Executive Session pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405 

(6) (C) to discuss a real estate matter.  

 



PRESQUE ISLE CITY COUNCIL ANNOUNCEMENTS 

MONDAY, April 7, 2014 

 

 If you would like information regarding City meetings, please 

check the City’s website at www.presqueislemaine.gov under the 

City Events Calendar tab or Channel 16  

 

 The next regularly scheduled meeting of the Presque Isle City 

Council is on Monday, May 5, 2014, at 6:00 PM in the Council 

Chambers at City Hall. 

 

 Questions regarding City Council meetings may be directed to 

Judy Dionne at 760-2785 or jdionne@presqueisleme.us.  Most 

city council meetings are broadcast live via Time Warner Channel 

16. 

 

 All City Council Agenda information is posted on the City’s 

website at www.presqueislemaine.gov on the Friday before the 

scheduled meeting. 

 


